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The following story resulted from an amalgamation of personal experience, discussions with friends and acquaintances, history books and current news stories.  Settings include Afghanistan, a southern land grant college, and around the state of Oaxaca, Mexico.
April 2 2003

HiJaak

Hey there young trooper.  I just returned from Afghanistan in time for my retirement.  Twenty two years playing war.  Putting Band-Aids on hemorrhaging dinosaurs.  It’s time to put my GI Bill to work.  Play Don Quixote and tilt against the windmills of academia.  See you soon. 

Jaak and I had been friends since grade school. Called him “Good ole Jack S.” after Senator Jack S. Phogbound in the Al Capp’s Lil Abner comics.  We were both in high school Reserve Officers Training Corps also known as ROTC or rotsee.  
We were gung-ho to save the world and make a little spending money when we joined the Army Reserve in our senior year of high school.  We never actually expected to be called for active duty in 1980 and were surprised when we were sent to boot camp then to Ranger training when we graduated.  This included jump school and basic language schools in Farsi and Pashto to keep us occupied.  
I had had two years of high school Spanish, but several years later I got a refresher course in Spanish and a short course at the School of the Americas at Ft Benning for several little jobs in Latin America to back up the CIA and BORTAC (U.S. Border Patrol Tactical Unit – the global response arm of Homeland Security).  I also got a couple short TDYs to Palmarola Air Base (now called Soto Cano) in Honduras.  While in Honduras there were several drug interdiction raids and a “field trip” into Salvador to rescue the pilot of one of our A-37B Dragonflies.
Over the years there were several 90-day short tours in Saudi, Jordan, and Turkey and some shorter drug interdiction trips to Central America.  We were both called up for Desert Storm and then back to inactive status when the Pentagon dummies cut the Armed Forces in half.  Jaak got a medical discharge due to a hard parachute landing.  Out in the real world he became a moderately successful real estate salesman.  
I signed up in the National Guard for another two years to finish 22 years for retirement. Could do this standing on my head.  After 9/11 I got recalled for the attack on Afghanistan.  Finally got to put Farsi and Pashto to work.  
The Afghan tour was to be my last and it really sucked.  Classical war is supposed to be between opposing forces with military killing military.   Afghanistan was more like leaping into the middle of a militant crowd in foreign uniform.  Just trying to stay alive.  Most of the combatants we engaged were not in a recognizable uniform and could not be distinguished from their civilian counterparts.  Recent wars have killed a hundred women and kids and old men for every active combatant killed. Collateral damage.  These last few wars have been letting out the worst in humanity and permanently damaging the psyche on both sides.  Extracting nasty out of normally nice people.  
The first few months in Afghanistan were a disaster from the military point of view.  No specific plan.  Inadequate troops to accomplish the indefinite goals.   Poor leadership.  Reserve and National Guard units competing without Regular Army adult oversight.  While Camp Phoenix and Bagram base had Dairy Queens, clubs and even massage parlors before armored vehicles arrived.  The grunts on the point of the spear had sand flies, cold MREs, and the opportunity to drive around as moving targets in unarmored Ford Ranger two-wheel drive get-stuck-in-the-sand pickups.  In a fire fight we had our trusty rifles while the enemy plinked at us with heavy machine guns and rocket powered grenades.  Even the gate guards at Phoenix and Bagram had better weapons than what was issued to us.  I guess the Brass had to protect their collective ass.

Several of the Afghan enemy combatants that were captured and sent Guantanamo turned out to be just local small town bad boys involved in local kidnapping and extortion.  In prison they had associated with the big boy terrorists.  When they returned home after a year or so by way of terrorist training facilities they had a real hatred and a giant hard on for America and Americans.  Plus they had all the contacts needed to become serious terrorists.  Washington caused many of the minor league Gitmo prisoners to become terrorists.  If I were a young innocent peasant that had been captured, tortured, and thrown in jail for several years I might be pissed too.
We Americans (the CIA, in particular) have a long history of manufacturing our own worst enemies by training and supporting local scum like Batista, Somoza, Papa Doc Duvalier, the Castro Brothers, and our friendly dictators in Iran and Iraq.  We keep trying to organize chaos gett more chaos.
Why did the Iraq and Afghan wars not work?  How about a lack of adequate troops in general and specialized troops who were foreign language proficient in particular?  Couple this with the Pentagon’s “mosaic” philosophy that had not worked in Iraq during the first trip to the sand b ox.  The second trip to the big sandbox and leap-frogging to Afghanistan left us with the practice of arresting everyone in the battle zone.  The arrestees were intensively “interrogated”.  All the little pieces of unrelated information were put into huge computers by minimally competent computer geeks and “mined” for potentially useful information.  By the time most of this information was available in a usable format it was neither timely nor any longer useful.
Our Afghan in-country transportation was mostly old unarmored Ford Ranger pickups and other pre-positioned vehicles left from Desert Storm and Desert Shield.  As for communications in the field we had to use cell phones through Canadian or German outposts to pass the word on to support aircraft or for medical assistance.  I finally traded some old Playboy magazines to a Canadian fire team for a pair of portable military radios that allowed us to work a little better without going through a third party.
I was a National Guard Army Ranger.  I was assigned as an Embedded Tactical Trainer (ETT) for a battalion of Afghan National Army (ANA) troops.   Most of the ANA troops were hard headed, unruly, undisciplined, relatively uneducated and some were just plain lazy.  Half the original group of 500 deserted within six months which was probably best for all concerned.  They might have stayed if the pay was decent and the paydays were anywhere close to regular.  Some of the ANA leaders had fought the Russians but they still had little concept of tactics or organization.  They had all been raised under harsh unhealthy conditions with a rifle in one hand and the Koran in the other.  Their Imams apparently only taught about half the Koran, the parts that incited violence and degraded women.  The part about a passel of virgins waiting when you got your ass shot off was particularly popular.  (The actual translation was a land of milk and honey and said nothing about virgins.)  Not a word about the brotherly love or peace prominent in the other half.
The National Guard staff running the show from Camp Mojo was incompetent at best and criminally liable at the worst.  Their idea of how to fight the war was to lead from the rear, have neat uniforms and clean vehicles and never leave the compound.  Let someone else to do the dirty work.  In general they were inexperienced and tactically ignorant.  The Sergeant Major had almost 30 years in the Guard.  He was a kiss-ass civilian used car dealer who accused anyone who complained of anything or was suffering from PTSD to be in need of a little live action to work it out.  His favorite saying was, “Have another bottle of water and take thet hill, trooper.”
Just like in Vietnam the staff troops were putting themselves in for all kinds of medals to help with promotion points until someone blew the whistle.  After that some of them who were more motivated would slip into firebase camps for a night of “combat experience.”  They would complain about rations, generally get in the way, and then put themselves in for a Bronze Star.  The headquarters clerk had a drawer full of medals if you would fill out the papers.
My unit had a little problem that was hard to believe.  I insisted on hard work in the firing range.  We burned up lots of bullets and became really good shots.  They decided to have a little fun at the range one afternoon.  Anytime someone missed the target the pit crew raised a red flag on a long pole commonly called “Maggies Drawers”. One of the guys missed and, when they raised the flag, everyone shot at the pole splitting it into pieces.  After a few months we were subjects of an Army investigation. The enemy had received so many head shots while peeking over and around walls that we were accused of torturing and executing these guys.  After we demonstrated our skill at shooting some joker on the investigating team suggested we slack off a little so we would not attract unnecessary attention.  This may sound reasonable looked at from a politician’s vantage point.  
The enemy was using mostly Kalashnikov AK-type weapons using 7.62X39 ammo.  Most of them were stamped out in China.  During Viet Nam a lot of this ammo was captured and sabotaged. Our troops pulled out the slug and emptied the powder replacing it with a little C-4 or det cord.  Then the bullet was replaced.  Lots of these rounds were conveniently “lost” to blow up in the enemy’s face.  Surprise!
The ANA and my guys got transferred to Camp Juju with the Canadians. Better food.   Not treated like red-headed step children.  If we needed Intel for operations we still contacted one of the Special Forces camps.

The old NG Sergeant Major got stabbed in one of the non-existent whorehouses in Kabul.  No great loss.  His replacement finally got us radios, a couple HUMVs, and better grits.

I got a little R and R leave or down time during which I enrolled in graduate school for after retirement at the end of this deployment.  A whole week back stateside plus transportation time.  For the unenlightened, R and R stands for rest and recuperation.  It is also called I and I for intercourse and intoxication.  Ten days isn’t very long.

Part of our job was to stay out of sight of correspondents and visiting officials from the State Department, CIA, Red Cross, Amnesty International, and other similar bureaucrats and do gooders.  Usually got  sent on a pointless mission to get us out of Dodge when really high ranking visitors would be wandering around the base.  “Go up north and see what’s shaking.”  No mission plan.  Not Intel brief.  No maps.  No communications plan with frequencies and little things like that.  No contingency plans.  No nothing.   “Just get your asses in your trucks and stay gone a few days.”  We were survivors, so at a time like this we would stop by the Special Forces camp down the road for the night where we would get projects we could actually do some good along with maps and frequencies and local hot poop and a bite of better chow. 
At the Special Forces camp one evening after the brief for our next day’s mission we were joined by a civilian field advisor for a couple drinks.  Our next day’s assignment was called “operations other than war”, checking on the welfare of civilian schools.  

One of our better educated troops saw education oozing out of him and began asking philosophical questions.  This seemed to make our new friend happy like he had not talked to rational people in some time. “We can BS unofficial over a couple beers.  Otherwise it might be considered as deep background and then I have to get paid overtime.” 
One question was why we didn’t just nuke the countryside.  The advisor cocked his head and looked everyone in the eye.  “Hell”, he said.  “Look around.  There aint nothing and nobody to nuke.”  
My trooper asked, “Then why do we have all those nukes?”  “Good question,” our Agency friend replied.  “We have more weapons and more powerful weapons to persuade others not to.  The nuclear control philosophy of “nonproliferation” meant we had nukes and no one else did or should.  It was supposed to legitimize nuclear-based politics.  Unofficially this idea doesn’t work.  Instead, it serves as encouragement for the rest of the world to get nukes if only for prestige and looks.  After about a dozen countries got bombs the term has become “counterproliferation” where we just had to have more than anyone else.” 
“Then why are we here pounding snot out of poor beggars living in the poorest, most desolate country on earth?”   He thought a minute then said, “It’s all about revenge.  People paint every act of vengeance with often irrational justifications.  The Revolutionary War was vengeance over legitimate taxation.  WWII was because the Germans thought we were too harsh after WWI.  Vietnam and Korea were because half the country thought the division of their countries was unfair.  Our blockade of Vietnam was because we lost the war.  Politicians are egotistical and vindictive and hot for revenge.  We invaded and bombed Iraq and Afghanistan instead of just looking for Osama” 

Most of the troops dozed off but the conversation went on until time to saddle up for the day’s work.  
Once while on the dark cold of a late watch someone asked rhetorically why in Hell had he joined the Army.  After a little discussion our resident PhD philosopher private quoted the 19th century German philosopher Friedrich Nietzsche who said, “Young men join the Army for the chance to die heroically and quickly rather than be devoured slowly by economic predators”.  Good point.  He also quoted military theorist Carl von Clausewitz (1780-1831) that "war is but the continuation of politics by other means". He paraphrased Mark Twain by saying that Adam and Army recruiters introduced death to the world. Then he added a happy thought, Karl Marx had said, "War is inherent in capitalism".  Makes you feel warm and fuzzy all over. 
On one of these trips we were about two days out of camp and half a day up a narrow valley following a dry stream bed that the map called a road.  Olive groves and an occasional almond tree were in the distance.  Desert vegetation.  Dry land farming of barley, millet and poppies.  We were approaching the area where a small village was supposed to be located.  
Before long we began to see armed indigenous troops in the hills along our route.  Our gunner screamed “Oh God.  Oh God.  We’re all gonna die” and charged his Squad Assault Weapon.  One of our new guys asked if the qualified him doe a CBI.  We would of made a SALUTE report (Size-Activity-Location-Uniform/Unit-Time and Terrain-Equipment) but we were in an off the grid black zone where radios and cell phones did not work.  
Since we did not know which side they were on but had not fired at us we held our fire.  We finally reached a place where we could climb out of the stream bed and circled the vehicles.  One of the natives held up his hand and said something that our translator understood as a welcome.  I took the senior ANA and our translator into town to negotiate getting our asses out of Indian country in one piece.  
There had been a recent shoot out between a local drug lord’s militia and the village people.  The attacking gang had withdrawn after losing several troops.  The villagers were not anxious to lose any more people so they were holding their fire.  The village chief told us that a local drug lord had insisted on loaning the village about $200 US for supplies to plant poppy fields.  This had happened before and we white hated coalition troops had burned the fields to save the kids back home.  With no harvest and no funds the “loan” could not be repaid and the drug lord took the chief’s oldest (13 years) daughter as a “drug bride” to be sold on the international market. 
This time the elders said “No” to the loan but the drug lord had insisted resulting on a shootout.  We took up a collection and rounded up $200 US hard currency and made a deal to pay it to the head man along with one of our beat up Ford Rangers and a couple boxes of ammo in return for food, information, and safe passage back out of Indian country.  We spent the night under a roof for a change and were escorted back to the highway the next day.
There were several “jezail” rifles in their camp.  These were hundred year old 0.70 caliber smooth-bore matchlocks. Very ornately  decorated.   They looked similar to our Kentucky long rifles.  Two of our group tried to bargain and buy one but had no luck.  
I asked if I could fire one and after some grinning and discussion and another cup of tea they said yes.  We went outside and they set up a target about a hundred feet away.  I watched while the match lock was set and the powder poured down the barrel.  Then a half a dozen large lead balls were inserted followed by cloth wadding which was tamped into the barrel.  They demonstrated how to hold and aim the long barreled rifle and handed it to me.  Following their instructions I grasped the curved stock against my side under my arm instead into my shoulder, took aim and pulled the trigger.  There was a click.  A fizz.  A puff of smoke.  Then nothing.  Then BOOM, the weapon fired.  The delay between pulling the trigger and firing seemed like a long time but was only a split second or so.  But it was unexpected.  One of the balls hit near the target but the others chipped rock a couple feet away like a shotgun.  This gun had been used in various wars against Russians, British, and various Afghan neighbors over the past hundred years.  Shooting a jezail would take a little practice.   
Back at our outpost our gunnery sergeant chewed my backside and said those old rifles were unreliable and it could have exploded. 
On one of these trips we had what you might call a funny incident.  As we drove into a village a pair of young kids came rushing out of an alley with lit Molotov Cocktails and threw them at our truck.  They hit with a thunk and bounced off.  Our fearless young warriors had filled discarded plastic water bottles with diesel fuel.  The bottles did not break and the diesel barely burned anyway.  We ran them down and took them to the village elders for counseling.  These kids could be a real problem with a little training.

One advantage of the NG was you knew the civilian background of your troops.  Take for instance Corporal Baker.  Out on patrol he spent a lot of time looking at the land.  It turns out that he was a PhD geologist and could pick out faults and other features easy as the creases in his Momma’s brow.   He was also a history buff and knew a lot of the history of the area we were in.  Once down southwest of Kabul near the town of Aynak he spotted some blue green rocks he called chalcopyrite or copper ore.  He said this indicated possible copper deposits and that there had been some Roman mines in the area.  With nothing better to do at the moment we got on some of the close-up satellite maps and he located what he thought was a possible mining site not far from where we were camped.  For curiosity we humped over a couple hills and there in the side of a hill was a hole with a crumbling stone arch and a rubble pile.  We tossed in a flash/bang grenade to make sure we were alone and took a look inside.  The tunnel had pretty much collapsed but there was evidence that it had been a mine and had been worked.  Back in Kabul I found that the Chinese had paid big money to lease several square miles where we had been to develop copper mining.  Whenever peace prevailed again sometime in the future.  Maybe we could sweet talk the Chinese into buying off the bad guys and we could all go home.
I asked Baker if he knew any other potential sites where maybe we could get in on the ground floor.  He said there was talk about gold in the Pashtun south, rubies and sapphires near Jegdalek, and emeralds in the Panjshar Valley.  His maps also showed what he thought were interesting areas near Kholm and Mazai-e Sharif way up north and to the east near Takhar in the Hindu Kush but we did not get into those areas.  
One hike was into the mountains and desert to the southwest of Kandahar.  Baker remarked that Sir Robert Baden-Powell had been in the area.  Someone said, “I thought he was the inventor of the Boy Scouts.”  Baker said, “Yeah.  But he was here about a hundred years ago as a British Colonel fighting these same native tribes.  He even described today’s weather.  Cold.  Rain.  Snow. Sleet.  Mud.  Same steep hills.  Main difference was he was here with horses and mules instead of Humvees.  He laid all this out in his biography, Memories of India.  He said the Afghans were always after horses, mules and weapons so his troops would bury the weapons at night and pitch their tents over the burial site.  As for the animals the most unruly animals were placed on the ends of the picket lines to cause a ruckus if they were disturbed. ”  
One of our guys was from near Baton Rouge but went by the name of Tex.  One cold dark night someone asked why he wanted to be called Tex.  He replied that Texans were called Tex but if anyone called him Louise he would cut them three ways –long, deep, and continuously.

Another private, who was pulled out of graduate school for this little field trip, was working on a Masters in archeology and spent his spare time looking for fossils.  He found several beds of 500 million years old specimens in craters that bombs had excavated.  It was hard to keep him from hauling half the mountain back to Kabul to send home.
Back in civilization a couple junior troops looked a little down.  I asked them what their problem was.  They replied that there had been no recent action.  I asked if they were sicko action junkies.  They said they were just into war porn.  They explained that they videoed fire fights and kill zones and such and then back at camp they edited the tapes on their laptops, added music, and traded their flicks on certain special war porn websites for real porn flicks.  Officially the Army denied this trade existed saying their computer geeks could not trace the sources.  Unofficially they approved since it kept at least some of the troops off the streets and out of trouble with the locals – a more civilized war with only virtual rape and pillaging. 
We were out in the mountains to inspect some caves that were going to be hit with a thermobaric or fuel/air bunker buster.  This is a big bomb that contains a large quantity of liquid or powdered fuel that is disbursed into a flammable cloud by a small explosive charge.  This cloud is ignited a couple seconds later into a monster explosion and pressure wave that can kill people up to a couple thousand feet from the explosion.  We settled down about three miles away to watch.  A B-52 was flying so high we could not see or hear it.  A radio message warned us the bomb had been dropped.  A couple minutes later there was the mother of all explosions.  
We headed up the valley where the caves has been and found a couple walking wounded who were deaf and hemorrhaging everywhere from the concussion.  A little further we began to find clothing containing dead bloody pulp bodies of fighters killed by the concussion.  In the caves the dead looked like an elephant had jumped on them.  We checked the cave complex and found one that had been some kind of admin office with laptops and boxes of singed documents.  One stack looked like bank deposit slips.  Our interpreter verified them as deposit slips from several banks in Afghanistan, Pakistan, and Saudi that looked like a money laundering operation.  Opium money went in and operating funds came out.  I thought that banks were supposed to report any deposit over $10,000 and watch out for patterns of money laundering. A couple of the slips even had some of our friendly US bank’s overseas branches. Which side are these money grabbers on?  In another cave we found a bag with maybe a hundred flash drives and CD discs but no computers.  I would bet that messages went back and forth by courier to some internet café or other public computer facility in the big cities across the Pakistani border so NSA or whoever could not trace them.

Back at home base one afternoon an old Ranch Hand aircraft circled the field and landed.  This was a C-130, the plane that had sprayed Agent Orange on the jungles in Vietnam and sprayed for mosquitoes and biting flies in Iraq.  I ran into some of the crew at the club and asked what brought them to this part of the world.  They said they had been brought in to spray for mosquitoes, but from the chemicals they had been given and the spray altitudes, it looked more like some kind of black project.  It sounded remarkably like Operation Popeye in Vietnam where weather modification made rain and extended the monsoon by 30 days.  “Make mud not war” was their motto.  
Next morning our guys were ordered to stay on high ground just about the time the plane took off.  Over the next few days there were reports of torrential rains along the Pakistan border that flooded everyone out of the hills.  
This looked like it might be weather modification or “atmospheric geoengineering”.  Dr. Edward Teller, who was called “Father of the Hydrogen Bomb”.   He suggested spraying metallic aerosols like silver iodide into the stratosphere to reflect sunlight and reduce global warming.  These particles can also act as condensation nuclei causing rain.  This was called stratospheric aerosol geoengineering or SAG for short and in 1991 Hughes Aircraft patented this process.  Of course, I knew this activity could not possibly be SAG since that would be against the UN charter and other international agreements.
Another weather control method proposal goes back to the 1960s with over the horizon radar like the Russian “woodpecker” supposedly used to look for attack bomber.   Our scientists say it pumped megawatt pulses of radar into the ionosphere.  This radiation may have heated this atmospheric layer and diverted the jet stream and caused changes in surface weather.  

Russia was not alone.  The US Air Force and Navy and DARPA built an antenna field in Alaska called High Frequency Active Auroral Research Program (HAARP). It projected steerable high frequency radio waves into small areas in the ionosphere.  It was reported to have been used for weather modification like diverting Atlantic hurricanes and causing droughts or torrential rains. This could be used for environmental warfare that would be hard to prove.  There are now about 20 of these installations worldwide owned by the US, Russia, Europe, and other world power wanabes.
A couple weeks later we were returning from a routine patrol.  Our outpost was on an abandoned Russian base.  It was about 0300 and dark like only a no moon night can be dark.  Up ahead there a cigarette ember glowed and was flipped into the brush from a blacked-out jeep that we would not have seen otherwise.  We followed the jeep through the gate with enough light to see three men in civilian clothes and a hooded man.  The jeep headed cross country toward an abandoned dilapidated wooden ex-Russian hangar. 

Next evening I was down to the flight line to pick up some VIPs at flight operations.  I used a Humvee to impress the visitors.  One of the new ones with self-sealing gas tanks, blast deflecting bottoms and softer riding shocks with magnetoreactive fluid.  The old Russian hangar was sitting near the end of the runway like one of our alert hangars.  It had probably been used for the same purpose.  While the VIPs were deplaning from a big C-17, an on old C-23 Sherpa short takeoff aircraft landed and taxied to the old hangar.  Three hooded men were quickly marched out to the Sherpa which lifted off immediately.  I mentioned to one of the guys in flight ops that I had not seen one of those black ops planes in years.  I was told that I was mistaken and had not seen anything and that there was nothing going on in that old building.  Hmmm.

That evening I saw one of the Air Force air controllers in the club.  He had had a few beers so we started telling stories while we had a couple more suds.  I mentioned I had been on a couple missions in a C-23 and had not seen a Sherpa in a long time.  He mentioned that there were occasional vehicles and planes in and out near the old hangar usually in the early morning hours before sun up.  About this time a mean looking guy in civvies came over and escorted my drinking buddy out of the club.  At the door he turned and pointed an index finger at his eye then at me. Then, while giving me a drop dead glare like I should forget everything I’d heard he pulled his finger across his throat.  If there had been any doubt about retiring from this man’s Army this helped make up my mind.  Fighting just wasn’t fun anymore when you couldn’t tell who the enemy was.       

I got back to Jalalabad two weeks before the end of my year in country.  This meant I was a double digit midget and even better that I had less than 90 days to go until I was eligible for my retirement.  I was tired and thoroughly disgusted with the leadership and the lack of support provided for our military in an unnecessary war.  I put in my quit-chit for retirement.

I had an afternoon off and decided to see some of the other side of Afghanistan.  I had seen some of downtown Kabul - the central market, mosques with blue and white tile and pointy domed roofs, minarets, the masjidmazar – but most of the significant Muslim and Buddhist sites in and near Jalalabad had been destroyed.  I gathered a few other interested parties and a translator/guide and had an interesting afternoon playing tourist.several other  
The evening before I left the sand box I heard a weird aircraft and saw a strange looking plane climbing out of sight.  One of the Air Force guys said it was an unmanned spy plane.  A drone with cameras.  He said the CIA was thinking about putting missiles on it.  Looks like I’m getting out at the right time before they put us honest hard working grunts out of work.

Word came in that the enemy was building booby-traps called Improvised Explosive Devices (IEDs) from mortar shells and anything else that would explode.  They were activated by pressure plates or radio controlled detonators made from things like old cell phones.  We had solved a similar problem in Lebanon after the Marine barracks was hit by using broadband transmitters but the US State Department disapproved this tactic after a truck bomb blew up in the middle of afternoon traffic.  Too much collateral damage.  It really was time to pull the pins and boogie. 
The IEDs used various high explosives like RDX or C-4 which is 90% RDX and less hazardous.  Some IEDs used cratering explosives like ammonium nitrate or potassium chloride which are common agricultural chemicals.  At least most of the IEDs were not shaped charges.  These use the Monroe effect and can penetrate a tank.

We had a few ABVs (Assault Breaching Vehicle) that fired a 300 foot mine clearing line charge that could clear a 50 foot wide path thru a mine field.  A new mine clearing vehicle, the Buffalo or MikLik) was being put into use but we had not seen one.    
Sep 2 2003

HiJaak.  

My parents came for my retirement.  Sorry you could not be there to see my shiny new medals.  It’s off to war of a different breed – pursuing a PhD program at the state Agricultural and Environmental College. Thirty semester hours of courses plus research and thesis.  My research will be in Oaxaca, Mexico, on the social dynamics and environmental impact of wind driven electrical generation farms.  I even have a campus job lined up.  Sounds like fun.  Come on down when I get settled in Mexico.  Catch you later.
Jaak and I had both earned Bachelors and Masters Degrees over the years mostly courtesy of Uncle Sugar.  Now that I would be on my own with the GI Bill available I was going to get education piled higher and deeper with a PhD in environmental management.

Back amongst the East Coast pine trees and rednecks I had ten days to take care of paperwork and other retirement details.  The day before I was officially retired I bought a five year old Chevy S-10 pickup.  All my accountable personal equipment like guns had been turned in and I had everything I owned packed in the truck.

 My parents had come a couple days early for my retirement ceremony and were staying at a Days Inn nearby.   I was just getting into the truck to go meet my parents for dinner when a Company rep in a classic CIA-style uniform of seersucker suit with red tie and obligatory sunglasses intercepted me.  He said he had been trying to catch up with me for the past few days.  He had a job offer I might be interested in.  I seriously thought a smacking him but I really did not want to stay in the Army any longer than I had to so I politely told him to stuff it.  He said he would catch me again in a few months to see how things were working out.   

The next morning, a sunny Wednesday, I got a parade along with two other retirees.  The General gave me three medals and a hand shake.  I gave my mother a bouquet and the General let us three take the salute as the troops passed in review.  There was a final exchange of salutes and I was free.  After the reception at the consolidated club and lunch with my parents I changed out of uniform for the last time.  I saw my parents off at the airport and began my trek across the great no-fly zone to school.  The three day drive would give me a little time to cool down and to get used to not wearing the uniform of the day.  

Driving the Interstate 20 west was a pleasure.  No dust or potholes.  No IEDs.  Nobody one using me for target practice.  I could eat what and when I wanted.  Delicious burgers.  Creamy malts.  Not a bite of lamb or goat or haunch of camel on the entire menu.  It was wonderful except I froze every time I heard a Middle-eastern accent in McDonalds or 7-11.  This reaction slacked off after a few days.
I took a back road through Alabama along a two-lane road with no shoulder heading south to I-10.  Getting low on gas, I stopped for gas and a bite at a crossroad general store.  There was a shade tree with a picnic table where I joined a couple old men.  They asked if I was in the military.  I told them I had just retired.  They both said they had also retired and began telling war stories when the ground shook.  I hit the ground.

They laughed and said it was a minor quake from those gas frackers.  There had been hundreds of little earthquakes caused by natural gas extraction.  Drillers were pumping water and chemicals down their wells to break up the bed rock (fracturing = fraking).  I later found this was getting to be a common practice around the  world with shale deposits.
One of the men said he could not smoke in his house because natural gas came out of the faucet and the toilet. One of the gas wells blew out near his home.  His wife had a stroke and died and the blowout contaminated acres of pasture and several creeks with brown chemical sludge.  He showed me that his fingerprints were gone due to chemically induced genetic changes and said his doctor estimated he had maybe a year to live.  The drillers had destroyed the local roads and overloaded the police and fire departments and the schools and hospitals
I asked about the environmental regulators.  They said the state and Feds had tested the air and found background NORM (Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials) had risen over the past couple years but not high enough to require enforcement.  The ground water had elevated levels of benzene, methane, chloroform, butane, propane, toluene and xylene but did not exceed regulatory limits.  All of these chemicals were used fracking and were known to cause cancer and birth defects. The creeks tested high for sulfates, chromium, chloride and strontium.  The air had high levels of dust and particulates contaminated with various chemicals from the hundreds of trucks that passed their farms daily during drilling. Doctors found acetone and the heavy metals arsenic and germanium and both the old men had lost their teeth due to high selenium levels.  
The regulators said nothing could be done because loopholes in the environmental laws exempted energy companies from the Clean Air, Clean Water and Safe Drinking Water Acts, the Toxics Release Inventory, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, and the National Environmental Policy Act.  Best government that money can buy.  That’s what happens when you elect business executives.  The lives saved and the reduction in medical expenses might cost a few jobs or, more importantly, hit someone’s bottom line.
On Minday morning I was on campus and checking in.  First stop was the Registrar’s office to register and pay my tuition. Then, off to Student Housing for a place to crash.  My final stop was Campus Security for a campus parking pass.  
Campus housing office told me I had an interview with the Dean of the School of Agroengeneering where I would pick up my schedule of classes.  I found that my assistantship duty was to be dorm daddy for twenty foreign students in a renovated WWII barracks located in a splinter village (graduate student housing) on the back side of the campus.

The head of student services invited me in for a chat.  He told me the last three who had this job had quit in a matter of days.  He hoped my military background would allow me to take control and keep these students on the straight and narrow.  These were students under State Department sponsorship.  They were expected to finish a Masters Degree program and return to their countries of origin as academics in State Department sponsored universities that were being built in their countries of origin to help rebuild their countries.  I got the impression that the college administration was not happy with this arrangement but the money and prestige were good for the school and the faculty involved.  The school had a reputation as a hot bed of apathy with fundamentalist overtones that barely tolerated Catholics much less the Muslim background of some of these young men.  This attitude encompassed most of the local merchants and parents.  It did not sound like it was going to be much fun but I had not met any of the students yet.

1 Oct 2003

HiJaak 

Class work takes a little getting used to.  It requires self discipline and long hours catching up with technology.  My student job is interesting.  I’m dorm daddy to a group of foreign students.  Of the twenty students ten are from Mexico and Latin America.  There are two from Pakistan, one from India, three Tunisians, an Algerian, a Somali, a Malaysian, and a Saudi Prince, no less.  We had a meeting and decided we could use a program to get acquainted with civilization like how to flush a toilet and change a light bulb.  I’ll keep you posted.

I moved into my room late Saturday afternoon.  The room had a bunk, a dresser, a sink and a small open closet.  The toilets and showers were down the hall.  There was circulating water air conditioning and heat.  The windows had been sealed shut so I hoped the circulating water was circulating.  This was a pretty poor billet even by military standards, but at least I would not have a roommate.

The Housing Office had given me a roster of my troops.  This was an interesting mix of 20 students for ten countries.  I found a couple of students already in their rooms. 
I knocked on the first door apparently psychologically unready for what I found.  He was named Pervez from Pakistan with curly black hair and dressed in cargo pants and a flowered short-sleeve shirt.  My heart jumped a few beats as I felt for my long gone rifle. A touch of PTSD I guess.  I introduced myself in Arabic and apologized for my reaction explaining I had just returned from Afghanistan and had retired from the Army the previous week.  He smiled and replied in the Queen’s English that he understood.  He had been a captain in the Pakistan Army and still had this same reaction but it was getting better.  I introduced myself again in English and invited him to a group meeting at 2000 (pardon me, 8 PM). 
I was better prepared for the next student and, at least, did not reach for my imaginary gun.  He was named Bushra from Sousse, Tunisia.  He short and dark with dark wavy hair dressed in tight jeans and a pressed white dress shirt with silver-tipped pointed cowboy boots.  His room smelled of musk and reverberated with disco music and black light.  I told him I had never been to Tunisia but I had been in Egypt, Somalia, Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Afghanistan and Iraq.  He said he had trained as an engineer aboard a Russian cargo ship and had visited many ports in many countries.  

I had asked both of them to please tell everyone they saw that there would be beer or soft drinks and pizza in the rec room at 8 PM.  For curiosity I asked if they preferred Coke or Pepsi.  Both had opted for Coke probably because Coke and Fords were forbidden back in their home (Muslim) countries.  They said they would even drink a beer or share a jug of wine so long as I was buying and they were my “guests.”  You can’t disrespect your host. 
About 1930 (7:30 PM CST - I gotta get used to civilian time) I brought a cooler of drinks into an empty room that we would use for a common room for recreation and study.  The three Mexican students and the one Bolivian came in and we began to get acquainted with the conversation in Spanish.  A few minutes later the two Pakistanis and the Somali looked in the door.  I invited them in and we all switched to English.  
At 8:00 PM (2000 my time) the pizza delivery guy brought in three large pizzas- a sausage and cheese, a pepperoni, and a vegetarian just in case there were any non-carnivores.  He was followed by five drooling students. We opened the pizzas and were passing around drinks when three more students came in.  I made it clear to the Muslim students that I, an infidel, had bought and brought the beer and they, as my guests, would not be violating any religious laws if they accepted my hospitality and drank my beers.  The Muslims grinned and the Latinos had a quizzical look that asked, “What’s going on?” 

While passing around a sign-in sheet I asked if anyone else was coming and got a round of shrugs.  Actually this was more than I had expected to show up.

We began with introductions.  First name.  Home town or city and home country.  Major field of study.  Anything they thought might be of interest.  I began with my name, place of birth, military background, and my interest in the environmental impact of wind generation.  I told them I was glad to be out of Afghanistan and happy to be a civilian again.  Since some had names that were hard to pronounce I suggested they all pick a common American name each wanted to be called.

We had just gone around when two more dropped in.  After these last two had introduced themselves I said I had a little homework for them.  It was not compulsory but I would like a short written resume like they would eventually have to write anyway.  A page of background so I could be of get to know them.  Strictly confidential.  In fact, I would read them and shred them.  I handed out a copy of my resume for a model.  

I was surprised to find that one called Dodi, who picked the name Doug, was a Saudi Prince (a really high number in the line of succession).  I asked if he had any special requirements.  He told me in a British finishing school accent that everything was cool and that his body guard would share his room.  No problema.
We finished a little after 10 PM and most everyone filed out.  Pervez folded up the pizza boxes and stuffed them in a trash can.  I asked him in halting Pashto if he was named after General Musharraf.  He cocked his head to one side, spit, and replied, “Musharraf sucks.  Please call me Pete.”  I grinned and said, “And your sister is named Benazir?”  He spat again and said, “The Bhutto family is descended from dogs and are all thieves.”  We grinned and shook hands.  I told him we probably agreed on a lot of other things too.

A student named Flavio, who wanted to be called Phil, was from Chiapas State in southern Mexico.  He offered to carry the cooler back to my room.  I said sure and asked in Spanish if it was dangerous to live with the Zapatistas.  He showed me his girl friend’s picture and said the only danger in Chiapas was falling in love.  I could see what he meant.  He was a full blooded Tzotzil and his girl friend was Tojolchol.
I told Phil about a sweet young thing I had met in Mexico City.  We had talked about the traffic and the Colonial architecture.  I was getting ready to ask her to join me for a drink when I asked her name.  She said, “Nada Gringo.  Yo Nada, Tu Gringo.”  Phil laughed and said he had met her and her American cousin, Noway Jose.  
Classes were scheduled to begin the next Monday so we got a head start with some discussions on the English language and local customs.  We covered the comparative value of US money, discussed some of the local foods, and talked about how toilets and light switches worked, smoking, sex, drinking, drugs, driving, and other new and interesting topics.  One of the Tunisians who wanted to be called Sinbad wanted to know more about dating.  I told him I was out of practice but we could talk.
On Monday morning those who had classes scheduled all made it to class on time.  All of them took a tape recorder to class to make sure they missed nothing.  One of the professors got incensed like his words were copywrited.  A discussion with the Dean of Students resulted in a letter to all instructors concerning these students.    
A couple days later housekeeping told me some one was messing up one of the toilet stalls.  I called another meeting so I could tell everyone that when they wiped their ass to use toilet paper and flush the paper and not to wipe the guilty finger on the wall or throw the used paper in the trash can.   In the US that was what toilet paper was for and in the US, unlike much of the rest of the world, they could flush the dirty paper.

22 Dec 2003

HiJaak 

Happy holidays.  The semester ended with no major casualties.  The only student issue was with the Muslims.  A personal Christmas card the president of the school had been sent the foreign students.  The card was a color picture of him and his family and their two golden retrievers.  Sending Muslim students a picture of a dog was a big insult.  

The whole dorm was designated “No Smoking”.  This had the appearance of attempted harassment since only a few of the students smoked.  It was a challenge explaining why they could not smoke in their rooms and, more important, why they should not smoke at all.  Two of the Muslim students had thought smoking looked cool and decided to begin smoking.  Since smoking was against their religion they held the cigarette a half-inch from their lips and sucked up the second hand smoke.  I told them that, first, this looked dumb and, second, it was generally unhealthy, and thirdly that they would get hemorrhoids from sucking air so hard.  Pete had a little talk with them and they quit a few days later.

After observing the group for a few days I recommended a thorough physical exam for all of them.  I found John, a retired Ranger medic studying for his nursing certificate, that would do the physicals cheap and off the grid.  A couple students resisted but they eventually gave in.  The test results showed everything from chronic malnutrition to malaria.  The medic and I arranged medication as required.  We also recommended dietary changes and I volunteered to lead an exercise program.  

Christmas came and went with no problem since no one had left the country.  The only student issue was with the Muslims.  The university president sent all the foreign students a personal Christmas card with a color picture of his family and their two golden retrievers.  Sending Muslim students a picture of a dog was a big cultural insult.  I told them to take it easy and that his secretary probably did not know better, but when I mentioned this to the dean of foreign student and expressed their concern I got a big grin and was told to stay out of the line of fire. 

A few of the students went to visit kinsmen and family that were in the US over the holidays.  Several families from Mexico and Latin America came for a visit and I got them motel reservations off campus.  Doug came back to campus after the holidays with a new Mercedes.  He gave me a spare key “in case something happens”.

Doug also leased a large farm so he could keep a couple Arabian horses he had bought and where he could ride when he wanted.  I cosigned the deal.  He invited our group out to run and workout in the gym he installed in one of the barns.  He, Pete, and I began working out in Shotokan karate and some of the others joined us. After a few weeks we hired one of my old combat arms instructors with a black-belt to provide training. I also recommended that Doug hire our Ranger medic buddy as overseer of the farm.
Ben thought solar panels would be useful in providing a constant electrical supply.  He found a new film form of solar cells and added a custom computerized inverter to each panel array that increased the efficiency and made connecting and maintaining the system much easier.  We also installed a wind generator.  A good workshop was also built and equipped for electronic tinkering. 
One afternoon several students came down with the flu.  John, our medic broke out s portable bacterial identification unit that used computer chips to identify chemical weapons and diseases in the field.  The military had been field testing these units about the time John retired.  A military unit could detect sarin gas or anthrax in time to activate preventive measures.

A couple of students were intrigued and began looking into the technology.  They found that the unit not only identified chemical weapons and diseases but could identify individuals using the bacterial skin flora.  They built a prototype and discussed applications such as identification of personnel using the information to trigger locks and warning devices.  Max said he had contacts in India that could develop, and, maybe, sell applications of this device.  
5 April 2004

HiJaak

Class work is a pain but I am maintaining good grades.  This job as dorm daddy has been interesting.  Every evening there is a group of students working on assignments and discussing current events.  We have discussed the price of oil, military action in Iraq and Afghanistan, political intrigue in Pakistan, Columbia and Chiapas.  We got into NAFTA, multi-national economic intervention, AIDs, computers, and almost anything anyone had questions about.  

One evening Ben from Tunisia mentioned he had a kinsman that had been on an airliner that had been hijacked and the plane had been blown up on the runway in Paris.  We said we were sorry for his loss and the discussion got around to how dumb it was to hijack a plane to make a political statement since most governments could not show weakness.  Our Malaysian friend mentioned airport security and how useless this was when there were so many improvised weapons available on the plane and passengers.  This generated a lively discussion about what could be used like sharp pencils and pens, shoelaces, plastic bags, and the power cords for computers.  Then they got on to how to prevent the use of these items and the level of the security needed to accomplish this.  The airlines could not be depended on to help.  Conclusion: everyone should show up four hours early, check everything and put on orange jumpsuits for the flight.  Only way to be effective but everyone thought this would be funny.

By the way, I got an offer I could not refuse and Karen from Desert Storm showed up on my front doorstep.

The Somali student, Kalif, who wanted to be called Carl, had a problem.  His money was cut off resulting from a military coup in his country.  The university warned him he would have to go home if expenses for the remainder of the semester were not paid immediately.  This was strange since the State Department footed the bill.  I helped arrange a student loan from Doug.  Things were back to normal in a couple months with a new Somali President-for Life in charge.

The group discussed this unfriendly turn of events with the university and decided to get revenge.  It appeared that money was a potent lever.  One of the Pakistani students working on a Masters in finance had worked in a stock brokerage firm in Islamabad.  He recommended dinging the stock market and the schools investment portfolio.  Doug happened to have interest in an oil importing business.  Oil was about $50 a barrel so they decided to buy 10,000 barrels of oil on the margin at a price $50 above current market.  The bid was to buy the oil from Doug’s company with Doug’s money.  This purchase caused a market panic that resulted in reselling the oil almost immediately at a ten dollar a barrel profit.  We set this up as an off-shore corporation.
The profit was set up as a slush fund to prevent any further economic problems and they elected me manager.  The group tracked the impact of this small oil sale on everything from the price of gasoline to a rise in airline fares and the price of milk with interest. Sale of SUVs took a short term hit and Toyota started selling their hybrid autos like there was no tomorrow.  Best of all the school’s stock portfolio took a big hit.  It took about ten days for the stock market to recover and a couple speculators lost their shirts.  
Mad Max from Madras took careful notes of the activities of our broker and thought this would be in interesting challenge for a mathematical model.  Further analysis showed some brokers received big buy and sell orders a couple seconds before the general public and that these brokers paid a big fee for this slight edge and made big bucks as a result.  Just for fun Max inserted a worm in our broker’s computer to give us the same advantage.  Max made us a couple million in a few days.  He shut the worm down before the regulators got suspicious.   
We had been going out to Doug’s farm to practice martial arts for a couple months. This came in handy when one of the Muslim students was jumped and beaten up.  His martial arts training had reduced his injuries.  Now everyone wanted to learn how to shoot.  We spent a couple weekends constructing a shooting range and began practicing with a variety of rifles and small arms that Doug acquired through his diplomatic connections.
One evening as we were finishing our workout with a two mile run we noticed a government-looking Ford pull into the drive and a couple “suits” get out.  Doug and I went to see what was cooking.  I figured they were the CIA or a similar group and was ready to run them off.  Doug said this would be impolite so we sat on the porch and were served iced tea by Doug’s bodyguard.  They said they were from an unspecified intelligence gathering organization and were impressed with our group.  They said they could help us with tutors, training, firearms permits, and immigration problems and such but left hanging an implied threat if we did not accept.  We decided to get in bed with the Devil and they said they would be in touch.
A week later I noticed a familiar looking young lady working in the campus book store.  I finally placed her as a mechanic sergeant who had maintained our dune buggies when I was in Kuwait.  Karen something or other.  She had been fair looking even a baggy cami uniform.  She was friendly, a competent mechanic, and had lost her left foot to an Iraqi landmine while we were testing one of the machines.  I had heard she got out on a medical retirement.  
I had not seen her around campus before and when she called me by name I asked if she was my contact.  This was not a cool pickup line but it turned out she was.   I asked her out for pizza and beer and we talked about old acquaintances.  After retirement and a long fight with the VA the CIA had proposed a working agreement and additional physical therapy including an almost bionic prosthesis.  She had done a couple assignments before they had asked if she remembered me.  So now she was my contact.  I took her to the dorm for our nightly student meeting and introduced her to everyone as an old war buddy.  After she left I got quite a ribbing. 

Finals came and went and everyone survived.  Statistics had giving me fits.  It helped that the student from Madras (who called himself Mad Max) was a whiz at math and thought statistics was beautiful.  
Mad Max was working on a personal project analyzing asymmetrical populations.  This involved analyzing and prioritizing a city traffic system for choke points where a terrorist or even an accident could paralyze the city.  To validate this theory (and some of my old threat analysis surveys) he picked a nearby medium size city.  His traffic analysis identified specific intersections that would bottle up the majority of the population for several hours or more.  To test his hypothesis several students staged a simultaneous breakdown of several vehicles at pre-calculated strategic locations of a medium-sized town that had a circular bypass road.  Other students observed the chaos and video-taped everything.  The modern loops cut off most local ground evacuation routes and traffic was backed up for hours with no alternative routes.  Karen’s friends expressed an interest.
Max was looking for insights on a new project so one evening we discussed his work.  First, he explained he could build a big data base with a little data mining.  Next, we began to define parameters for a terrorist attack such as date, time, location, relevance ranking such as military, religious, markets, bridges, etc, perpetrators, responders, types of attack, weapons, results such as number killed or wounded, and physical damage.  Then we looked at reactions to the hypothetical attack such as increase in troops or police, communication problems, and public awareness.  This would be followed by analysis and, finally, there would be application.  He thought this could be used to predict attacks and to foresee the potential impact of an attack.  We could have used this in Afghanistan instead of relying on our intuition but then the Taliban could have used it to predict our response.  We told him to watch out for Homeland Security or he might wind up in Guantanamo.  Karen asked if he could use a bigger computer.  Next day a bigger computer complete with a computer tech showed up at the farm.
Max helped a couple computer techs install the new computer system.  During lunch the techs and a non-nerd talked to Max about his analytical project.  Max mentioned that he had played with a scenario including an electromagnetic pulse (EMP) generator that was really effective.  The topic switched to the mechanics of EMP and a discussion of Operation Fishbowl in 1962.  Max commented that, although an atomic bomb produceed a big EMP, an atom bomb would not be desirable.  He recommended a Non-nuclear electromagnetic pulse (NNEMP).   Some of the new computer hardware could be used to replace the chemical explosion for the initial energy source and reduce physical damage.  They briefly discussed Max’s generators and the transversely-excited atmospheric-pressure (TEA) CO2 laser and went back to work.  Another team thought a directed microwave pulse might work for short range like disabling an automobile.  Maybe something could be put together that would be short range and portable.
One Saturday while everyone was out to the farm waiting for a turn shooting various weapons, the driver of a Cadillac SUV had punched in the gate code and was headed towards the shooting range.  A pair of visitors from our secretive friends got out and asked if we would like a little demonstration.  We all nodded and began helping to unload various weapons.

We had all fired the AK-47, AK-74, the M-4, and most of the other weapons currently in use, but our friends unloaded a couple things I had never seen.  In a couple of minutes, they had set up and proceeded with a lecture and demonstration.  The most impressive was the SPC 6.8 mm.  They explained that the NATO 5.66 mm round was good against armed troops with body armor where there was mass to react against.  However, it was almost useless against lightly clothed individuals where the bullet would penetrate the body with little impact and leave the subject standing and still shooting particularly if he was doped up.  Hence, the 6.8 mm had been developed to hit with more than twice the mass.  The CSD was designed for this bullet.  The weapon felt and fired like the M-4.

They broke out a strange looking weapon: the Cornershot.  This is a shoulder fired weapon consisting of a hinged stock with a Glock 18 mounted on the front and using a small TV-like sight.  It can fire right or left around corners and over walls. It is a little hard to acquire the target at first but it works well after a little practice.   

Karen had a Glock 17 with a laser sight.  Everyone fired at least a few shots with varying degrees of success.   One of the engineer students thought it would work better if it were stabilized like some of the new digital cameras.  
Two other students thought they could improve the accuracy of most of the weapons with gyro stabilization.  The problem with gyro stabilization in the past was weight and the idea of stabilizing the gun sight instead of thee gun itself.  In a couple weeks they had developed a prototype portable gyro stabilized front hand grip.  It was about the size and shaped liked like a split hot dog bun with a couple of control buttons.  You could lay the front grip of most of the weapons on this gadget, turn the gyros on and make even the worst shot a marksman.  They said they could add a laser site to make even better.  It was demonstrated for our friends who were very impressed.  Max from Madras, India, (now called Chennai) had some kin in light manufacturing that could develop it and manufacture all our friends wanted.    
One evening the TV news said the local people had rejected a referendum for the local power company to build a nuclear power plant.  We discussed why people would object and some alternatives and agreed that the locals were narrow-minded conservatives and afraid of nuclear energy.  Reactors using uranium or plutonium are scary because of the China Syndrome meltdown potential and making fissionable material for atomic weapons
Max suggested using a high temperature thorium reactor like had been recently built in India.  The Kakrapar-1 reactor was a fast-breeder reactor.  It used plutonium to produce power with no usable fissionable byproducts.  
A salt-based thorium reactor might be even more acceptable by the public.  The main drawbacks of the thorium reactor were that more research and development had been done on uranium reactors and that thorium was not as readily available as uranium.  The first thorium reactor was designed to supply power for a nuclear powered bomber; but the research had been unfunded after two years.
10 June 2004

HiJaak

We all decided to take classes for the summer and found the AC was malfunctioning.  I found that one of the valves had been turned off and locked so we retired to Doug’s farm.

All of the students and I decided to take courses over the summer.  The air conditioning was malfunctioning so after classes we went out the out to the farm or to an all-you-can-eat pizza and beer place about a block off campus.  Both had air conditioning.  We decided to troubleshoot our AC system and found that a key valve had been turned off and locked.
Pete had noticed some flaws in one of his textbooks.  Several lines on several pages were printed much lighter than the other text.  We discussed how this happened.  This was caused by the press being dirty or about to run out of ink.  The light text made the normal text look like boldface emphasis.  We both had a brain fart at the same time – radical Imams taught only about half of the Koran to the kids.  This part emphasized the militant radical antisocial verses.  We thought it would be useful to publish a Koran with the good parts printed in dark type while the rest was a shade lighter or, maybe, printed in slightly smaller font like 10 instead of 10.5 that would not be readily noticeable but would put subliminal emphasis on the good parts.  I passed this on to Karen.
Everyone was interested in the upcoming election and had been watching the campaigning and the primaries.  The war in both Afghanistan and Iraq had not been too successful. Iraq was leaderless and seemed to be breaking into civil war.  There was talk of establishing a number of permanent bases in Iraq and staying forever.  President Arbusto still would not talk to Syria or Iran or North Korea and was making noise like we should attack them too.  Most of the students thought that their countries would have had a civil war if, like in the US, one candidate had the popular vote but another claimed the election and got the Supreme Court to support his claim.  They also thought it strange to allow the President to appoint his brother as Minister of Homeland Security and have a Vice President who had been CEO of a company getting a majority of the noncompetitive contracts for rebuilding Iraq. This sounded like third world politics to them.

An article in the Washington Post claimed that the AIDs epidemic had come from Haiti in the early 1970’s.  The Vice President got on TV and accused the Haitian leader of a plot against the US.  The next morning there was a battalion of Marines sitting off of Port au Prince demanding reparations.  The President of Haiti surrendered the country.  Everyone wondered what we would do with a small poor island country with touchy neighbors.  In the next few days the Vice President’s former international construction company was given a noncompetitive contract to construct and manage a big new US air base to preposition US troops and aircraft along our southern frontier. Shades of Grenada.  After a volcano had destroyed our major base in the Philippines we had gone into several western Pacific islands and built 10,000 foot runways and big fuel storage facilities where there was no commercial traffic.  After this we had invaded Grenada accusing Russia of building a military foothold in the New World.  

About the first of July the air conditioning was repaired and we moved back to the campus.  Guess someone finally figured they could keep us under surveillance easier in the dorm.  Karen suggested we look out for bugs.  I probably did not know what I was looking for or there may not have been any but I found nothing.  Karen said we should keep our meetings out of the dorm until she could get some sniffer equipment in a few days.
In early July Abdul (called Fat Albert because of his skinny frame and big appetite) from Pakistan had to fly home for a family funeral in Islamabad.  His uncle had been killed in a car bombing.  When he tried to return the US State Department would not renew his student visa.  I tried to get the dean involved but he seemed totally disinterested.  This retired Major told me I should keep a low profile or I might catch some collateral fire.  I asked what he was talking about and was told, in confidence, all the foreign students were suspected of being terrorists and were being watched.  I contacted our Karen and the immigration problem evaporated.
In mid-July the evening discussions were limited to homework after we found a bug in a light switch thanks to Karen’s electronic sniffer.  Doug’s bodyguard had been very helpful showing us how to sweep the rooms for bugs.  We took several portable shortwave radios and found the carrier wave of a transmitter in every room.  I guess the snoops had been busy over the long 4th of July holiday.  We left them in place muffled in cotton but were careful about our conversations.  For good measure we all got new cell phones and off campus e-mail accounts and watched our messaging.  
We checked the pizza place where we hung out and found two bugs and a spy camera.  The bar owner was tickled when we volunteered to paint a mural on the wall where we congregated.  The bugs were accidentally painted over and the camera got pointed towards the light fixture.  We even got a pitcher of beer and a large pizza for our work.

Max had built a breadboard NNEMP and wanted to try it on campus.  Our friends said this would not be a good idea and offered to take Max and his new toy to Sandia National Laboratory near Albuquerque.
One of the evening discussions got on books we had read.  Ben had just finished Clancy’s Hunt for the Red October.  He had found it interesting since he had worked as an apprentice electrical engineer on a Russian cargo ship with a caterpillar magnetohydrodynamic powered water jet engine.  He had liked the quiet but had not been impressed with the horsepower needed to run the engine for the drive power.  The Russians had removed the reactor power plant but he said when they were anchored and the tide was running the engine delivered more energy to the ship than was supplied by the ship’s big diesel generators.  He thought the magnetohydrodynamic engine might work better as a tidal powered generator. 
Another evening a couple students had watched a late movie where Superman could see through walls.  We discussed the probability and arrived at two potential solutions.  One was a K-band radar transmitter on one side of the building and a receiver on the other side using computer enhancement to analyze energy absorption and show what had disturbed in the radar beam.  One student suggested multiple frequencies of radar beams for a clearer picture.  Our medic suggested using X-ray backscatter since many things reflected some of the X-ray beam and a sensitive receiver might be tuned to receive a picture of the reflecting bodies on the same side as the transmitter.  Karen thought this discussion might have some potential for development.  Our Indian student had contacts in the electronics business back home and would see what it would cost to develop.
One of our group asked if anyone knew anything about nanoparticles.  Several had heard the word but knew nothing about it except it was supposed to be hot stuff.
One of our computer geeks invited his new girlfriend over for our discussion session.  She was a history major so the discussion subject was history.  Someone asked why wars started.  At first this seemed straight forward but as she described some of the factors leading up to some of the wars it became obvious that there were many other factors involved.  Besides personalities, religion, economics, and expansionist requirements or desires there were environmental factors such as mineral deposits, water, farm land, and slaves or work force.  Out came the laptops and there was soon a spreadsheet of wars and factors.  Over the next few days they developed algorithms that could predict new areas of aggression based on environmental factors.  Karen passed this up her chain of command.
We hosted an ACLU lawyer another evening.  He discussed immigration and visas and how all this might impact them as foreign students.  Would you believe the next day I got called in by the dean for allowing unauthorized visitors in the dorm?  I told the dean the group had been concerned about their legal rights.  This time I was told Big Brother was keeping an eye on me, too. 

12 Sep 2004

HiJaak

Yesterday was the anniversary of the 9/11 attacks.  I suggested all the foreign students to stay in the dorm for the day.  We invited several professors by to talk to the group about 9/11 and its impact on the school and the local community.  I ordered  snacks and punch and all the students were present along with two faculty witnesses when the announcement of the latest terrorist attack came on all media.  At least no one could implicate any of my group.

Everyone was registered for classes and beginning their second and last year of the State Department contracted two year non-thesis Masters Degree program. These young men were destined go back home and teach in the State Department funded universities where they would become deans and department heads and tell everyone how great the US was and keep an eye on local politics.  This was not in writing but during our evening discussions this was a conclusion drawn from lots of little bytes of information.  These kids may be foreigners but they were not dumb. 

I made sure all of these students were free of any blame for any 9/11 anniversary activities.  They were all present, along with most of the other foreign students on campus, at a discussion group on the impacts of 9/11.  This was chaired by the head of the History Department with a round table discussion by several instructors and the Dean of Foreign Students.  

Meanwhile, in downtown USA about sundown when most of the working class was outside and heading home, a dozen dirty bombs went off in city centers around the country and a giant shopping mall.  They were relatively small bombs set off outside on the third floor level from a theatre marquee and several hotel balconies, and one inside a giant mall’s main air conditioner duct.  The bombs made a lot of noise and resulted in several hundred injuries from falling debris and panic but no deaths.  
It was a couple hours before it was determined these bombs had been dirty bombs made with whatever explosive had been easily obtained and loaded with biological and low-level radioactive material obtained from industrial and construction equipment, and a lot of hospital nuclear waste like antimony 121, zirconium 96, irradiated steroids, amino acids, and some waste heavy water.  Nothing was seriously contaminated by infective or hazardous materials or radioactivity but several blocks in the center of eleven business districts and the entire mall were dusted with fallout.

The next morning downtown business came to a standstill.  Billions of dollars were lost from cancelled tourist reservation and convention cancellations.  The New York financial district had been hit and the stock market slammed shut for the duration.  Radiation surveys determined that radiation contamination was superficial and could be decontaminated by HEPA vacuuming or water blasting.  By nightfall the Vice President’s former company had been awarded a non-competitive contract to manage the decontamination work.  Work began the next morning by shrouding the buildings and removing any radioactivity found during the surveys.  The dust and wastewater were collected and stored in hundreds of drums for later disposal.

There were several conspiracy theories that this was a put up job to get in the tax payer’s pocket but the FBI, CIA, and NSA pinned the bombings on a coalition of militant and extremist groups including radical Christians, black and Latino gangs, white supremacists, and, of course, Taliban connections for money and coordination. 

22 Sep 2004

HiJaak

I just got out of jail.  About 2 AM on 21 Sep the dorm was invaded by a gaggle of security troops from a half dozen organizations like INS, FBI and our own campus security.  They rousted everyone out of bed including me and took us to a classroom in the basement of the academic building.  All of the non-Latin students were separated, questioned and escorted back to the dorm to pack and were taken to the airport and deported.  The rest of us were questioned and indoctrinated on the benefits of keeping our noses clean and released this morning.  The plot thickens. 

The whole dorm was arrested in the middle of the night.  About 20 armed troops in riot gear from Homeland Security, with assistance from INS, FBI, the local cops, and campus security must have waited for the last light to go out.  They raided the dorm and kicked in the doors.  Most of us were just getting to sleep.  We were marched out and shoved into waiting vans in whatever we had been sleeping in.  We were taken to a campus conference center in the basement of the student union, separated, and put in individual rooms to await questioning.  By noon the non-Latin students had been taken back to their room and told to pack their belongings and by nightfall were all gone from campus.

Because I was a citizen and had a military record I was released in time for breakfast.  I called Karen and an ex-GI I knew who was a member of Congress.  Karen said her friends could not become involved because her agency was not supposed to be working inside the US.  They told her nothing could be done until the students left the country.  Our Ranger medic friend and his wife suddenly took an extended Mediterranean vacation to keep the group in together.
When I told the Congressman what had happened he asked how he could help.  I asked if he could look into the situation.  He called back in the evening and told me the non-Latin students including Doug were being sent home as undesirables and recommended I keep a low profile.   He had persuaded the powers that be not to send anyone to Guantanamo. 
The dean told me not to contact any of the deported students and to report any contacts made by them.  
Sir.  Yes Sir.  Salute. Click my heels together. 
I did not inform the powers that be that we all had modified satellite phones and new Internet accounts.  I made sure I had the phone number and e-mail addresses of each of them.  One of our electronic whizzes had designed a nodal connection that routed our IP addresses through numerous servers with variable delays before delivering any messages.  Communications would be difficult to intercept.  He had also been working on a communications cloaking device.  It converted a digital com signal into a wave form.  This wave was then run through a special system that split the wave horizontally similar to single sideband radios.   The resultant was a pair of unreadable dot-dash signals until the two signals were recombined to match the original.  The signal was invisible to conventional communication devices.
They also developed a small companion device for the cell phones that jammed satellite GPS signals so the phone location became invisible.  Further development overcame the secret anti-jamming devices and software designed to stop GPS jammers.  Karen’s friends were impressed.  Why hide if they can find you so easily.  Another money making project for our Chennai associates.  
They were working on a way to optically alter the internet signal so that it would be asymmetrical.  This would prevent the NSA PRISM program from splitting and copying messages.  The receivers would put everything back in order so the message could be read.  
Karen brought a lawyer to visit.  He had been told to help break the lease.  Over the next few days the agency reclaimed all of their equipment and sanitized the farm. This included leveling the shooting range.   High priced labor.  The Arabian horses and sports cars were sold at a profit.
2 Nov 2004

HiJaak

This is my new personal e-mail address.  Contact me for a couple neat downloads.  I got a note from Fat Albert.   The group had been persuaded to stay together and was living in Tunisia.  Doug’s family had a villa on the Med and I have an open invitation.

On the first day of November President Arbutus postponed the national election in the interest of national security.  The American people were upset but not enough to do anything rash.  However, Congress and the court got hot and the President backed down.  

The election was delayed a week and, to the surprise of most voters, President Arbutus won a second term.  After the election we learned our boy had used modern technology along with old fashion graft and coercion to win.  His party bought consumer information from credit card and cell phone companies that profiled potential voters.  Companies that built the computer touch screen voting machines had installed a backdoor in the computer software computer that allowed a little tweaking of the election results.  Promises were made to the religious leaders and unions to get their votes.  The new cabinet and judges had been industry lobbyist or philosophical extremists.  The military was put on lockdown for a few days.  The public was upset but a big tax cut and a 50% reduction in gas prices pacified the majority.

Our Columbian student, Manuel (Mark), mentioned that his uncle was in Washington for some meetings and would stop here for a visit over Christmas.  Mark said his uncle had been through the School of the Americas (SOA) and might have some interesting observations.  We made reservations for him at a motel in a nearby town.  I asked Karen what she knew about Uncle Julio.  After checking with her organization she said Julio was one of their prime assets.
Uncle Julio arrived two days before Christmas.  We got him moved in and the first thing he did was to sweep the room for bugs.  None were found.  We took him and his equipment back to the dorm and found several more bugs in the community shower room and cameras that covered the hall.  At the pizza place we found two cameras and bugs under most of the tables. 
Christmas was a mix of Latin festivities and three days of classes on what the School of Americas (SOA) had taught.  We discussed Plan Columbia, NAFTA, Plan Merida, and the US role in narcotics and guerrilla warfare.  We each got a digital copy of the US Special Forces Counter Insurgency Manual (FM 31-20-3) to read before Uncle Julio headed back to Columbia.  Karen’s boss dropped by and gave us a briefing and the status of the deported students.
4 Jan 2005

HiJaak

Karen and I flew to Oaxaca for a few days to make arrangements for moving down there this fall for my research project.  I’ll send some pictures.

I flew to Oaxaca to check out conditions and make arrangements for my research project next fall.  Karen came along for the ride.  She spoke fluent Spanish and the Triqui language as well as a working knowledge of Mixtec.  

After a night in a bed and breakfast and a visit to the Oaxaca State University we took a shuttle bus van with wooden seats on an exciting 8-hour switchback ride through the mountains to Puerto Escondido.  We arrived in the middle of the night and found a hotel on the beach.  The surf was up and the hotels were full of tourists from Mexico City.  
After huevos ranchero for breakfast I found a local taxi that, for sixty bucks US, would drive me to La Ventosa and show me around.  He showed me the existing power generating windmills and the proposed sites for future expansion on the sea-bar Santa Teresa.  I found a real estate agent who could arrange a house for me.  I even met the local representative for the Spanish energy consortium who said he would be happy to assist me financially if they could review my work.  
A local Trequi newspaper reporter told me that privately held indigenous land had been stolen from the indigenous people and leased to the Spanish company by the central government in Mexico City.  Without legal consultation the indigenous people were paid the equivalent of $10 US a year per hectare.  
The ride back to Oaxaca was through the night and the fog.  We slid around a zillion switchbacks.  I bet there wasn’t a mile of straight road on the whole trip. 
This same reporter had told about a large Army group attacking a Mixtec village radio station and destroying the building and contents and arresting three people for broadcasting “inflammatory” information.  The microwatt station with a two mile broadcast radius was licensed by the Mexican government and sanctioned by the UN Agency for Indigenous Group Broadcasting.   The official story was that warring factions of the Mixtec community were killing each other.  Trials were scheduled which was convenient since the accused were in jail at the time of the attack.
The Triqui Autonomous Municipality of San Juan Copula was having problems with the governor.  The community was split along political lines with the governor’s PRI group wanting to abolish the popularly voted municipality president.  Several people had “disappeared” and several had been killed.  A group of government unofficially sponsored paramilitary troops armed with automatic weapons were harassing the area.  The governor claimed no knowledge but offered no help.
We were up early the next morning in Oaxaca for a private guided trip to look at some of the archeology sites.  The guide and I discussed the history and environmental impacts relevant to these sites and finally got around to current events.  She was telling us about the local gold mines run that had illegally occupied many hectares of indigenous, communal and ejido lands of fourteen indigenous communities in the states of Oaxaca and Chiapas back in the 1980’s.  The companies, including Fortuna Silver mines of Canada through its operating subsidiary Cuzcatlán, Mioxa, Cazcatlán, Cazcatlán Aplication, Aurea, Continuum, Intrepid Mines, Panamerican, and others, had taken the easy gold and walked out after years of dumping cyanide mine waste and abandoned equipment into the local aquifers and rivers and poisoning many people and cattle.  Contaminated water and sand that could have been used to build ecotourism facilities was now useless.  Several small streams had disappeared into the earth during the tunneling resulting in having to abandon several communities.  Now with the price of gold up these companies were drilling new exploratory holes and had found molybdenum and copper as well as gold.  These companies, while not apologizing, said the mines would not pollute the air and new methods of extraction would not be released into the water.  Of course they did not mention that a gold mine will use over 100,000 gallons of water per hour in a water poor area with no intent of treating or recycling the water.  Our guide offered to take us up to see the area.

Next morning we left for a 2-hour ride out into the mountains northeast of Oaxaca City.  We arrived at the village of Ixlan and stopped for coffee and a 2-peso pit stop.  A few more bumpy miles took us to the village of Capulápam.  There were several ecotourism establishments in the area but the mine buildings were the most prominent.  Over the years the Mexican equivalent of the EPA had been contacted and the company had been told to clean up the area and stop the polluting.  Big deal.  

The locals had tried barricading the property and refusing to work for the companies but the army broke up the barricades and a group of thugs (Porros) came through town and shot up several villages.

We noticed several abandoned electrical transformers still filled with polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB).  I mentioned that if the PCB were accidentally ignited in a smudgy smoky fire in the tunnels and around equipment areas the smoke that contained dioxins, furans and biphenyls would be so toxic and persistent that operations would have to be abandoned.  Cleanup cost would be prohibitive.  

The guide and the village elders had asked if I knew anything about trees.  I told them I had grown up along the Gulf Coast where the trees looked much like those growing on the local hills.  They told me that they suspected tree sabotage and theft.  The village usually contracted cutting of storm damaged or trees infected with beetles.  The number infected trees had increased recently and they thought someone was bringing beetles into their forest.  I said this was not likely because there were plenty of local beetles looking for a weakened tree and that the trees were fairly easy to weaken.  I had been told that the drug cartels might be involved since lumber was valuable and the local villages would not allow forestry.
Several villagers reported having seen a four-wheel off-road vehicle out in the mountains where the beetle damage was worst in the past couple years.  One person had seen the driver pour a liquid from a ten-liter plastic jug around several trees that later became infected with Ipse beetles.  I explained that a little herbicide would not kill the tree but it would weaken the tree and this would attract beetles.  It would take a couple years for beetles to attack the sick tree.  The surrounding trees should also be removed.  Another way to weaken the trees was to drive trucks or heavy equipment near the base of the trees to crush the roots.  I saw several eyes widen in understanding and someone asked, “What can we do?”
While I am not an ecoterrorist I have read information on the subject.  I suggested they find and read the book, Ecodefense, by Dave Foreman.  He was one of the co-founders of an ecoterrorist group called Earth First!  One of their methods to stop tree harvesting was called tree spiking where a couple large spikes were hammered into the trees and countersunk.  If a saw blade at the mill hit a spike the blade might just stop.  Or the blade could be broken and the mill destroyed.  They would need to warn everyone the trees were spiked because people could be killed when the blade was destroyed.  I reminded the elders that the drug cartels were often involved with timber piracy for pocket change. Aggravating the local cartel members could be hazardous to their health.

I predict that in a few years trees will be “chipped” like the chips inserted into dogs and race horses by the vet.  These little chips can contain information like type of tree, GPS location, size, etc. for environmental information and allow the tree to be tracked to its fate such as burning or lumber production.

They also said there was a lot of dysentery due to the polluted river water supply.  I suggested that they harvest their drinking water from the middle of the vegetation in some of the oxbow lakes that occurred in the river valley.  The vegetation in these ponds would remove most of the chemical pollutants.  I also suggested that they put the water in gallon plastic bottles and leave them in the sun for a couple days to let the UV in the sunlight sterilize the water.  It might be primitive but it should help.
Another simple water treatment process consisted of adding a mixture of kaolin or other fine clay mixed with crushed papaya seeds to a container of water.  They could also use prickly pear pulp for the same purpose.  When the mixture is filtered heavy metals will be removed from the water.  This process may be too complicated for small operations but should work for small communities.  

Karen said she thought she might be able to get some funding for local health facilities if I wrote up a grant proposal.  After lunch with the village leaders we headed back for Oaxaca.
A month later I received an e-mail about a gold mine that had electrical fires and the mining operations were abandoned because of the high price of decontamination.  That was not the end of the story since several surrounding small villages were attacked by a pair of pickups loaded with “porros” or hired thugs armed with various weapons.  They killed two of the local men and wounded several others as they drove through town firing automatic weapons into all the buildings.  It scared the Hell out of the villagers.  Payback?
I got an e-mail from Max.  He had finalized the design on a short-range, portable NNEMP and Karen’s friends had funded a top secret contract to manufacture them in a small factory near Chennai in southern India.
A couple months later there was a small article in a Mexico City newspaper, Noticia, about the Federal environmental police investigating the destruction of a second illegal sawmill.  There had been one fatality and five workers injured.  They suspected that some of the trees had been spiked.
I ran across an old Army buddy in one of the street markets.  He was surprised I had gotten out and was going to school.  He said he was on leave on the way back to the States.  He had been in Chiapas recently doing some training.  I asked who and why and he told me a group had been sent to teach guerrilla tactics to a bunch of Zapatistas.  I told him the Zapatistas were pretty much pacifists.  He said that the Mexican government had asked for the training to set up the Zapatistas and make it look like they were getting militant groups together to hit government positions but none of the Zapatistas would take the training.  They spent a week training some of drug cartel personnel in military tactics and how to look like Zapatistas.  This bunch would probably attack some village so the Mexican Army would have an excuse to attack some of the Chiapas strongholds.

There were articles in several local newspapers like La Jornada discussing NAFTA and the national health programs.  I did not realize they were related.  There are about 40,000 children who die each year due to flu and other childhood conditions and it should not take an epidemic for the government to improve basic health care.  It seems that the two big political parties, PAN and PRI, have gradually dismantled the Institute of Social Security for State Workers (ISSSTE), the Mexican Institute of Social Security (IMSS), and the Secretaria de Salubridad (similar to the US HEW).  These were dismantled under the provisions of the NAFTA agreement.  There is also no effective national emergency plan.  A proposed plan would require repealing the privatization measures that resulted in destruction of the social safety and healthcare system and the reinstitution of ISSSTE and IMSS.  It is remarkable how things just slide in there over time.  I hope there are no epidemics like the bird flu on the close horizon. 
There were several small articles reporting the contamination of some of the 300 native corn varieties with pollen from NAFTA’s genetically modified corn.  The modified corn was supposed to be more nutritious but this required more fertilizer and water and resulted in sterile corn that could not be used for seed corn.  US subsidized corn had undercut the price of locally grown corn and put many subsistence farmers out of business resulting in a doubling and tripling the price of corn meal and tortillas.  Looks like multi-national companies are picking on the little guy with the help of the governments.   

The last morning on the way to the airport we noticed several large water tankers and a parade of people from one of the colonias.  I asked what was going on and was told that today was the day water was delivered, Dia de las Pipas.  We had noticed the drought or Sequia had damaged the water system but had not realized the extent of the human impact.  Water pipes and pumps do not work well at best but the drought has caused many of the water mains to break.  Coca Cola Corporation and Nestle are the largest private water sellers delivering water that should be provided by the government for a fee.  There have been threats by the vendors to cut delivery for illegal water taps and invading local private water storage facilities.  Privatization of water supplies, treatment, and distribution has become common world-wide.  The contractor receives a big subsidy plus collects the utility fees taking over the government functions of supplying water and updating the distribution and treatment systems.  The contractor can and often does cut water supplies for nonpayment.  
During droughts many of the water supplies are available only one or two days a week or less.  Sometimes where it is cost prohibitive to install and maintain water lines the water is delivered by truck but in many of the colonias and small villages the roads are impassible particularly in the rainy season.  In summer as many as 1.5 million "chilangos" (Mexico City residents) can be denied water by the National Water Commission (CONAGUA)'s shutting down of the Cutzamala river system that supplies about a third of the capital's water.  Aztec dancers called concheros dance appeals to the god of rain, Tlaloc, in the zocalo,  Followers of  the Virgin of Zapopan march from one country town to the next in hopes She will bring on the rains.
10 April 2005

HiJaak

Here is a funny incident from Oaxaca.  An article in a local paper said the City Council had outlawed parking meters.  This was significant because for the past couple years an official looking truck would pull up in front of businesses in the middle of the night and install a line of parking meters.  The merchants would howl to the City and the local papers and a few days later a truck would show up and remove the parking meters and reinstall them in another part of town.  This happened several times and the City could not determine who installed the parking meters or, more importantly, who collected the money.  Sounds like some enterprising college students to me.

Spring semester was panic time.  All of us were finishing the required course work.  The students were registered to get their Masters Degrees and head back to their respective countries.  
Karen and I were going to drive to the southern Mexico to the southwest part of the state of Oaxaca, Mexico, to begin my wind generator impact research.  The Company had reassigned her to work with the teacher’s union in the city of Oaxaca.

I was half surprised the school let me go but they were probably happy to see me leave.

2 July 2005

HiJaak

I am living in La Ventosa with Karen near where one wind farm is proposed.  It’s probably not on most maps but it is within the larger municipality of Juchitan not far from Porto Angel.  It’s not far from some world-class surfing beaches and outstanding seafood.
I got an e-mail from the students.  They said to watch the papers and to sell my airline stock.  Wonder what they are up to?

In late June Amar (Big Bill) sent me an e-mail saying the airline industry was history.  He said he and his friends in Tunisia had joined their Latin American friends.  Through Uncle Julio they had worked a deal with some freedom fighters in Venezuela setting up a training facility on an airfield in the Venezuela jungle with a long runway and several old airliners.  Recruits were found amongst eco-activists bent on saving the rainforest, preventing ozone depletion, and other environmental areas of concern.  They were invited to an immersion course of ecoterrorism and taken out to the jungle classrooms.  The recruits were a mix from the US, several European countries and a handful from the Orient but no obvious Muslims.  After three weeks of brainwashing, various hijacking scenarios were practiced.  There was no ordnance or explosive training.  Small mixed groups were sent out to take over airliners using a variety of methods to demonstrate the utility of common carry-on items making sure the methods were publicized using satellite photo phone.
In mid August there was an airplane hijacking.  It was an overloaded 737 third world airliner over Argentina.  The takeover was by threatening a stewardess with a sharp pencil to the throat.  The electronic system was disabled. The entire takeover was videotaped and sent to the wire services, the airline management, and aviation regulators by cell phones.  The plane was then flown at treetop level to the remote airfield. No one was injured.  The passengers and crew were put through a couple days of good food and eco-terrorism training then the plane and passengers were put on busses and sent to Asuncion.

The hijackers disappeared. Their process relied on the US government overreacting.  They demonstrated many items that could be used as weapons - brief cases, purses, computers, belts, jackets, and anything else carried on board like sharp pencils, shoe laces, all the patch cables for your computer, and even plastic bags from the galley could be used as weapons.  This was hoped to eventually scare  the public and cause so much delay and inconvenience that the worldwide airline industry would be forced out of business.  The fuel and catering suppliers and the ticketing and resort industries would be eliminated.  The skies would become cleaner and global warming slowed.  It looked a little over ambitious but who would know.
Homeland Security failed to notice. 

A second hijacking in December would not have made the headlines if it had not been filmed on a digital phone and sent to Associated Press live.  The plane was a small Airbus flying an evening run from London to Miami.  An hour out of Miami two young men took two stewardesses hostage using a sharp pencil and a plastic bag from the galley.  After the pictures were transmitted the plane disappeared with no electronic trace.  There was a huge search effort but three days later the plane suddenly appeared off the coast of Panama minus five passengers.  The pilot reported that they had been forced to fly south at 300 feet to a former military airbase in either Venezuela or Columbia.  They were treated well and given two days of lectures on the eco-terrorism.  The plane was refueled and they were told to fly the program set in their autopilot for 45 minutes.  They told the crew that the autopilot was connected to a bomb and deviations from the course and altitude would disable one engine.  They flew as directed.  When out over international water the bomb controller and explosive in the engine timed out.  It was determined to be a green smoke grenade.  The crew restarted all their electronics, climbed to a reasonable altitude and reported their location.  A pair of F-16s military fighters was scrambled to escort the missing airliner to Miami.  Nothing usable was found.

Homeland Security told everyone not to worry.  The hijackers had been identified and that US airspace was secure.

Then someone slipped under the yellow tape dividing the passengers who had been screened from the population at large.  This caused the terminal to be closed and searched and everyone having to be rechecked.  This caused a four-hour delay and backed up air traffic.  Twenty flights out were delayed or cancelled and fifteen incoming flights were diverted.  This minor incident resulted millions of dollars in losses to individuals and the travel industry. 

Three weeks later a small commuter jet was hijacked one evening flying from Amarillo to Denver.  Using the same technique one person videoed a young man undoing the power cord to his laptop and wrapping the cord around the neck of the cabin attendant.  This was phoned in to the wire service live and the plane disappeared from radar.  The TACAN and ACARS were disabled and it had dropped to 300 feet.  It landed at an abandoned military base in New Mexico.  The passengers were told to stay on the plane with the window shades down for 45 minutes.  They were warned that opening any of the hatches would destroy the plane.  A military surveillance satellite quickly located the plane but the two hijackers and the cabin attendant disappeared.  

Twenty percent of all airline reservations were cancelled by the next morning.  Homeland Security immediately banned all carry-on items - no pencils, pens, computers, or carry-on luggage of any kind.  This caused another twenty percent cancellation of airline reservations and a cancellation of 300 domestic flights and 27 international flights.  
Two days later six domestic and two foreign airports were disrupted by people bypassing security 

Four days passed.  About midnight a beat up van with three people dropped by my place in La Ventosa, Mexico.  Uncle Julio and friends.  We spent the rest of the night drinking warm beer and talking about their adventures.  They were using the statistical program Mad Max had built to predict security reactions and said they thought about one more incident and commercial flights would be history.

A week later the group took over another airliner headed out of Lisbon to New York with a plastic trash bag from the plane’s galley over a flight attendant’s head.  The plane disappeared, its TACAN transponder and ACARS disabled along with the flight recorders and engine performance beacon .   It flew southwest at 1500 feet dodging several search radars and landing at the Venezuelan rebel controlled jungle airfield.  Again there were no injuries, and the passengers enjoyed a couple days of good food and brain washing and were released.  The plane suddenly reappeared over Panama.

Homeland Security had reacted by recalling some troops from Afghanistan and putting them aboard all international and long distance domestic flights with rubber bullets as armed military escorts until an adequate number of Sky Marshals could be recruited and trained.  World-wide airline passenger levels dropped perceptibly.  

When the airfield was located US Marines and Army Rangers invaded the area.  There was a brief shootout with the local rebels but none of the hijackers was captured or identified.  The Venezuelan government denied any involvement and protested vigorously but the rest of the world applauded or laughed.

The Homeland Security people panicked and raised the threat level. Passengers were told to arrive at the airport four hours early, strip to their underwear, change into an orange jump suit, and check their clothes along with what used to be carry-on items.  A security check was required to purchase a ticket.  Terminals installed solid barriers to prevent any unscreened intruders into the area where screened passengers congregated.  All doors into secure areas were fitted with cyber locks.  The rest of the world was installing whole body scanners but the US was holding out because some individuals and the ACLU were claiming invasion of privacy.
Over the next few weeks the US government was forced to nationalize the airlines to keep minimal domestic and international air traffic moving.    

On September 11, 2006, a CD arrived at CNN.  It contained a video from an obscure ecoterrorist group whose goal was to clean up air pollution by destroying the airline industry and its infrastructure.  It talked of saving the environment by hijacking planes and instilling passenger fear of flying.  

Passengers had become scarce and ridership was reduced to near nothing.  Business passengers screamed at Congress.  Passenger airlines went broke and dumped their employees.  Aircraft manufacturers and maintainers filed for bankruptcy and sued airlines that had cancelled contracts.  Aircraft service companies closed and fired everyone.  Fuel suppliers suddenly had more aviation fuel than they could handle.  Airports became ghost towns and homes for drag races.  Travel agents, exotic resorts, and related tourist industries disappeared.  Stock holders lost billions.

A few businesses prospered.  Overnight courier companies and cargo airlines expanded their services since they seemed immune to hijacking.  Internet providers were swamped but expanded to meet demand.  Trucking, busses, and marine shipping opportunities were at a premium.  Cars and busses crowded the highways.  Local resorts and hotels prospered taking up the tourists who normally headed overseas.  Wonder what a Mad Max analysis will tell us?
4 Jun2006

HiJaak

The Oaxaca teachers are restless.  Karen moved back to Oaxaca to keep an eye on things for her employer.  The new governor had refused the annual wage increases authorized by the federal government.  The teachers have marched and are threatening to camp out in the zócalo or town square in front of the governor’s palace. The governor may be crooked and is certainly pig-headed and I don’t doubt he is dumb enough to cause trouble.

The PRI political party had been defeated and the new president of Mexico was from PAN, a new political party.  The Oaxaca teachers union was putting on a show to negotiate for more wages and better conditions that are required by Mexican law.  The new governor of Oaxaca refused to negotiate and appeared to be using the old CIA “Psychological Operations in Guerilla Warfare” manual for guidance.  The teachers represented the middle class in Oaxaca so the really poor were not particularly interested.  The teachers began marches demanding the governor to resign.  In late May about 50,000 teachers occupied the zócalo in front of the governor’s palace.  The governor moved the government offices out of town and retreated to his ranch.

On 22 June the governor made a surprise move and attacked the teachers during a night with troops, helicopters and teargas.  Several women and children were killed and hundreds injured.  Over the next year there was scattered violence against the teachers including arrests and beatings, several “disappearances”, and several killings. The strike leaders were arrested and taken several hundred miles for interrogation and released far from home.  The tourist industry bottomed out and illegal immigrations increased. 
One evening I was in a local bar for supper and a beer.  I was discussing current events with some of the other customers and asked if they were going to leave for the US.  They said they were considering the trip but were putting it off as long as possible.  One of the younger men said he was ready to become Don Quixote and make his quest for riches. 
One of the older men said this quest had been fine a few years back when a young man could prove his manhood but it was becoming a necessity.  This was before the drug cartels took over the trains and other transportation routes.  In la frontera he had paid a coyote $200 and crossed the Rio Grande near Del Rio, Texas.  He had avoided the vendidos or crooked police and had met la migra who put him up for a couple days.  He eventually arrived in San Antonio where he worked as a carpenter for a year.  One afternoon he was out picking up lumber when the immigration people raided the work site.  He went back to the house he shared with ten other juegos, took all the money he had saved and caught a bus back to Mexico.

NAFTA did not help.  US subsidized corn was selling for half the price local corn could be raised but the cost of tortillas increased.  Genetically modified corn seed was available but raising it required a lot of fertilizer.  When the GM corn was harvested it was sterile and could not be used for seed as had been done for hundreds of years.  This required buying new seed corn.  Also the GM corn pollen was corrupting the native corn varieties.  NAFTA was pretty much one way trade with US companies being the big winners.

The new President of Mexico recommended the governor of Oaxaca take an ambassadorship to Lower Slobovia but the governor refused.  There began a rash of home invasions and disappearances of teacher activist some of which were released from hundreds of miles from Oaxaca.
Local politics are complicated with groups and splinter groups allaying with anarchist, communists, socialists, rightists, leftists, indigenous, separatists, and who knows what else plus international groups like the Human Rights groups and even the UN.  Then there are several levels of local, state and national police, army units down to “porros” or local goon squads.  There are also state radio and TV and a lot of legal and outlaw low wattage stations and dozens of newspapers.  It’s hard to keep up with the players.  The state has arrested, beaten, jailed and even killed several journalists and radio personalities.  Porros have destroyed presses and radio equipment and threatened just about everyone.  
One of the problems of keeping score with the teachers strike and local political activity is the acronyms.  It’s worse than the Army.  There is the Frente Amplio de Lucha Popular (FALP), Asamblea Popular de los Pueblos de Oaxaca (APPO), Voces Oaxaqueñas Construyendo Autonomía y Libertad (VOCAL), Sindicato Nacional de Trabajadores de la Educación (SNTE), not to mention the FRP, PRI, PAN, and a number of other groups and subgroups plus governmental and even international organizations.  Then there are the two primary political parties, the National Action Party (PAN, in its Spanish initials) and the Institutional Revolutionary Party, PRI which the US sponsored for years plus minor parties like el Partido Verde Ecologista de México (PVEM), el Partido del Trabajo (PT), and the Partido de la Revolución Democrática (PRD).
The losing presidential candidate was in Oaxaca State visiting the 400+ villages that functioned as communes without political parties called “usos y costumbres”.  The governor sent some armed “guards” to assure his safety.  They mostly camped in the center of town an intimidated the locals.  In spite of intimidation the voters appear to be determined to get rid of the current governor and the President of Mexico whom they think stole the last election.
15 Aug 2006

HiJaak

My little corner of the world has its own kind of excitement.  A local native governance system is called “Usos Y Costumbres” or uses and customs and dated back long before the Spaniards.  It is basically an internal system for choosing the village leadership without the interference of the big political parties.  Recently one of the local villages using this system would not let a woman run for community president because the women were not allowed to vote.  It got to where the women left the village boycotting the men.  The men eventually changed the rules. 

Under Mexican law a system called “Usos Y Costumbres” or “uses and customs” is allowed for indigenous communities who choose it.  They are sometimes called autonomous villages since the big political parties are not supposed to be involved.  They can also form unincorporated communities within a city.  One thing I noted was that under this system the community held all the land and negotiated better contracts than private indigenous land owners.

One of the local Trigui villages was a little extreme by not allowing women to vote or hold office because they “produced nothing of value”.  The men only vote in what amounted to a patronage system where would be leaders had to work their way up.  One of the local women who graduated from college and moved back home wanted to be a progressive element in her village.  She was allowed to run for village president but none of the men voted for her.  She appealed to the federal election people who told her the village had made its choice and was autonomous.  The women all got mad and moved out.  They were “visiting” relatives in other villages.  No cooking, laundry, sex, or anything for a couple weeks and the council changed the rules.     

2 Nov 2006

HiJaak

My research has gone well.  I was about to publish a paper on the wind generators when I was offered $50.000 US plus a teaching and research position at a local college to forget my research with an implied threat.  I’m still thinking.
You might think about moving down here.  Fat Albert just sent a research paper saying that many of the world’s lakes and rivers would be in trouble in the next 20 years due to global warming and over population overusing the water supplies.  Let me know and I will find you a nice place near the beach.

The local village negotiated a deal for $130 per year per hectare (about $46 per acre) for the 2500 hectare generator site for 167 generators.  The lease gives the village rights to continue their farming on this property.  The contract is for thirty years but contains no provision to restore the land.  The community council had to approve since this was community property but had no legal representation.  
Some of the privately owned land was leased for as low as $10 per year per hectare and the owners were complaining to El Presidente that they had been cheated.  Newer contracts are more complicated with payments based on percent of profits to the village, payments direct to the land owner, payments for damages during construction, payments for crop damage up to fifty cents a square yard.  This compares unfavorably with $3000 to $5000 per acre per year plus damages for leasing the land in the US.
The first twenty five 1.5 MW turbines erected in the first increment created a hum that caused people to move away from the immediate area.  Farmers walk a couple miles daily to tend the fields and have already found oil and construction debris polluting the area and wide gravel access roads that have destroyed irrigation canals and pastures.   The disruption of the wind was suspected to impact on crops grown in adjacent fields by disruption of wind pollination for the corn.  There had been a couple incidents of the turbines over speeding due to hurricane winds that seriously damaged the turbines.  
Local resistance has resulted from comments about who would use the power.  The local indigenous could not use any.  Wal-Mart, Costco, and Starbucks and other bog internationals could move in and use some but there is not much customer base.  The consortium, EURUS Wind Park which leased the land, consisted of Action Energy and Cemex, the big cement company.  The resorts at Huatulco and cities along the beach could use some electricity but not nearly as much as could be generated.  This could easily become a giant international scam where lots of money is available and unscrupulous people come together.  Wind generators and their towers are expensive to build and maintain.
The proposed power generation could support a half million people or about a quarter of the power needs for CEMEX.  On the plus environmental side this would reduce CO2 emission by 600,000 tons a year.

Karen told me to keep a low profile.  The international groups can play rough.

14 Feb 2007
HiJaak
The governor of Oaxaca cancelled the charter of the teacher’s union and certified another teachers union friendlier to the government.  This resulted in another strike and a series of roadblocks and demonstrations that paralyzed the state.  The new union was rather small and made up of teachers who had not supported the old union goals and other people who called themselves teachers but were not certified.  Education in Mexico took a big hit when the President closed all the teacher training schools except those who intended to teach tourist related courses.  Some old Army buds dropped by for some surfing and talk. Remember Captain Gomez?
Karen took an apartment in Oaxaca to take care of company business.  Local politics was getting international press attention and Washington was becoming concerned that the country was falling apart again.   She has been busy spreading money and other resources around the Washington-chosen political organizations.  Unión de Bienestar Social para la Región Triqui (Ubisort) a paramilitary organization, created by the government of the state of  Oaxaca in the year 1994 to control the Triqui communities.  Centro de Apoyo Comunitario Trabajando Unidos (Cactus) who, along with the UN Civil Rights Commission, were protecting the Triqui villages and other politically oriented groups.  It’s not just PRI anymore.
Mexico is worse than D.C about using initials and acronyms.
There was a local incident that did not make the police look good.  A private security officer was in a local bank with his daughter when two masked men attempted to rob the bank.  The guard shot one of them before getting shot himself.  The guard’s daughter grabbed her father’s gun and killed the other robber.  The robbers were identified as members of the under-paid Federal Security Force wearing their blue uniform pants with a Tee shirt and ski mask.  Wrong place at the wrong time.
There was another general strike and blockade of state roads that paralyzed the state.  This was the same tactic used against the copper miners in the state of Sonora.  The miners went out on strike over dangerous working conditions and low pay and shut down the mines for almost a year.  The governor abolished the union and recreated a new union that went back to work with a pay cut and no improvement in working conditions.  Oaxaca’s governor disbanded the teachers union (Section 22) and created another teachers union made up of a few malcontents from the old union and a lot of people who called themselves teachers that the teachers would have to join if they wanted to work.  Most teachers refused and the schools remained closed.  Section 22 was largely backed by the local populations actively working against the governor and the new minority union.  There were numerous peaceful demonstrations, blockades, and work stoppages by teachers, women’s groups, indigenous groups, civil rights groups.  Several juveniles were stopped by demonstrators from throwing firecrackers and spray-painting political graffiti.  They had been hired by the governor as strike breakers.
Two other indigenous Triqui radio stations were destroyed and the operators arrested.  Section 22 included them in their demands that the government release union leaders and other activists who had been jailed on various charges for up to a couple years.   The indigenous radio stations belong to AMARAC (the United Nations World Association of Community Radios) and include Radio Zaachila, Radio Nandia and Radio Calenda as prominent stations in the state of Oaxaca.  There are about 200 community radio stations in Mexico but only 17 have current "licenses". Most of these community stations are low-powered indigenous stations with a broadcast range of a mile or so.  They are concentrated in Veracruz, Puebla, Mexico State, Michoacan, Oaxaca, Chiapas, and Guerrero. 
The President of Mexico made a big move and arrested the heads of several drug cartels for extradition to the U.S.  This caused internal wars inside the cartels resulting in hundreds of murders and attacks on the army troops sent to control the violence.  Somehow most of the casualties were civilians mostly from lower class and indigenous groups.  Every President and Governor picks his favorite cartel and sics the Army on everyone else.  
Flavio dropped by unannounced.  He said some of his kin had been run off of their farm by secarios (drug smugglers) working overtime.  These scum picked up illegals from further south and held them for ransom.  If the ransom was paid the illegals were transported back across the border and released.  If they were not ransomed they were turned over to the Mexican authorities who threw them in jail for an indefinite time and used them for heavy labor.  Karen contacted some contract personnel and the house was burned by “accident” with the druggies, some of their leaders, and several hundred pounds of marijuana inside.  There was evidence that this hit had been done by a rival cartel. 
I got a call from Karen saying she would be down for my birthday in a couple days. Late the next evening I heard a strange vehicle pull up outside.  Here was a yellow VW van with lots of graffiti.  Karen popped out of the passenger door and three guys unloaded surf boards, sleeping bags, and several cases of beer.  I recognized a former Army Captain Gomez and a couple Special Operations troops I had worked with in the past.  They were worn out after the nine hour mountain drive from Oaxaca so the first case of cerveza did not last long.

Next morning we were up before the tree frogs stopped singing and were on the beach at Puerto Escondido before the sun came over the bluff behind the beach with the Mexican Army camp.  We occupied a palapa and spread out breakfast of beer and fish tacos (maroscos) while the two younger troops hit the waves.  Surfers were already riding twenty foot swells half a mile off shore waiting for just the right wave. 
The Gomez and his friends had retired and taken refuge in BORTAC.  He was a history major from Arizona and was working on a modern historical context of the drug cartels in Mexico.  This was an interesting topic worthy of a couple beers worth of discussion.  Over the years the growing of marijuana in Mexico had changed to a local cash crop for local consumption.  Northern California raised more and better pot and anywhere else in the world but the cartels kept telling Congress and the regulators that Mexican pot was a real danger that had to be stopped.  Besides, the bales were big and not nearly as lucrative as other more portable drugs.  The cartels ran some marijuana across the border periodically just to goose the regulators as a cover for importing other drugs.  A couple weeks previous Gomez and his boys had captured and sunk an expensive cartel million dollar semi-submersible working out of a jungle hideout near Tumaca, Columbia.  It was carrying 4,000 pounds of coke.  This proved that there was a lot more invested in high value narcotics than relatively low priced bales of marijuana.
I told them about the power consortium that had hired me to survey some potential wind power sites.  They must have pull with the government because on the first day of the survey a jeep with a machine gun and three soldiers in combat gear picked me up at sunrise.  We wandered around trails through the jungle until we broke out on a bare mountain pass with a clear view for miles on each side of the divide.  The wind was sufficient to provide power for maybe 200 wind generators.  

The jeep had stayed out of sight in the trees.  I was told to keep out of sight as I looked at the valley below.  I had a flashback to Afghanistan.  In the valley acres of poppies were coming into bloom.  Slash and burn sites on the hill sides were covered with coca plantations.  One of the soldiers motioned for me to hurry back to the jeep as a couple bullets ripped through the trees.  We rushed down the trails and out of the jungle as the sun was setting.  There was a lot more drugs than corn in those hills.   

US president Regan declared war on drugs in 1985.  The cartels should have given him an award.  It did little to reduce the drug trade but jacked up the price of the drugs and of the cost of the enforcement effort.  Enforcement has confused drugs and immigration with the idea that controlling one will control the other.

The US has tried to enlist or, more realistically, force Mexico to control and reduce drug trafficking with money, military aid, and training.  The Mexican solution has been for the Mexican president to pick his favorite cartel and go to war with the rest of the sicarios.  One of the problems has been collateral damage – the killing of about 20,000 civilians.
During the time President Reagan was in office Miguel De la Madrid was elected and held office from 1982-88.  This was back before marijuana became the number one cash crop.  The Mexican state of Sinaloa just south of California and Arizona had thousands of acres of pot under cultivation much of which was controlled by Rafael Caro Quintero.  The Mexican government could not find this big green spot in the desert but a contract pilot for the US Drug Enforcement agency (DEA) flying out of Guadalajara found the plantation and reported its location to his boss, Kiki Camarena.  Quintero kidnapped the pilot and his boss, tortured, and killed them.  Qunitero wisely left the country.    When the DEA bodies were found the US threatened to call in its loans and cut off monetary support so De la Madrid captured Quintero.  Quintero had once offered to pay off the Mexican debt of $102 billion for exclusive rights to Mexico.
In 1988 Carlos Salinas was elected president.  To get in the good graces of the US he negotiated the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA).  The US wanted Mexico to slow illegal immigration and catch Miguel Angel Felix Gallardo of the Sinaloa cartel.  To do this Salinas picked a home boy from his home state of Nuevo Leon to direct the capture.  Juan Garcia Abrego and his brother Raul operated the Gulf Cartel flying narcotics from Columbia to the Navy base at Tamaulipas.  
Gallardo was killed and the Sinaloa cartel moved to Tijuana with all of Gallardo’s kin. They showed their contempt for Salinas by killing the Cardinal of Guadalajara in 1993 during a shoot out between Abrego and another druggy, Joaquin “El Chapo” Guzman.
In 1994 Ernesto Zedillo was elected.  Immediately President Clinton required a certification by Zedillo that Mexico was fighting the drug war to justify the economic aid provided by the US.  Each year Zedillo made a show of capturing a drug cartel leader for prosecution including president Salinas’s patron, Garcia Abrego.  The Gulf Cartel was out of business so Zedillo’s new “friend” was Amado Carillo moved the drug operation to Ciudad Juarez across the Rio Grande from El Paso.  Carillo was called “Lord of the Skies” for his innovation of flying a DC-6 stuffed with coke from Columbia to the US border.
The cartels were coming across the US border at treetop level and landing in unmanned USAF auxiliary fields and private ranch airfields dropping off cargo and leaving before authorities arrived where illegal alien mules loaded up backpacks and disappeared into the brush.

We stopped for another round of beer and watched a pair of topless European beauties pass by.  Mexico does not allow public nudity unless they are “beautiful people” and not Mexican.  Karen got off her cell phone, swatted me, and asked what happened next.
Gomez continued.  In 2000 Vincente Fox of the PAN political party beat the old established PRI.  A month later El Chapo Guzman disappeared from a maximum security jail in Jalisco and consolidated his power by exterminating rival cartel leaders to become one of the most powerful crime lords in the world.

Filipe Calderon took office in 2006 in an election heavily tainted with fraud.  One of his first act as president was to put on an Army field jacket and send troops to the border town to reinforce or replace the local police.

The sun was getting high and all the true surfers had long deserted the waves.  Pretty boys in the latest surfing fashions were out and carrying new surf boards trying to impress the girls.   
We were telling war stories when a group showed up and took over a nearby palapa.  Gomez and his friends looked at the group leader covered with tattoos and several gold necklaces showing through his open short-sleeved shirt.  “He’s next,” said Gomez.  The two special ops guys nodded as we policed up our bottles and trash and prepared to leave.
May 6 2008
HiJaak

I was hired by the Mixteca communities to look at the environmental impact of the proposed government dam on the Rio Verde at a village called Paso de la Reina.  The proposed dam will affect about 100,000 indigenous Mixteca and Chatina people and a lot of productive farm land.  There would also be adverse environmental impacts.  The Government promised roads and schools and other benefits if the dam was built.  This area is about 150 miles SW of Oaxaca with no industry or tourist interest and 200 miles east of Acapulco on a narrow coastal plain with lots of wetlands. It has been a birding and whitewater rafting destination and an archeological end wildlife study area since the late 19th century. Why build?  How about a uranium find.
I was approached by members of the Council of Peoples United for the Defense of the Río Verde for some environmental consultation on a proposed hydroelectric dam on the Rio Verde.  I found this was not a new dispute but figured I could at least gather and summarize the information available.
Beginning in 1966 there has been a series of government 4 studies to locate and develop resources of Mexico for power agriculture, tourism, and many other subjects.  These studies have resulted in gold mining leases, wind generation, resorts like Huatulco, and several proposed hydroelectric dams.  Major obstacles have been indigenous populations and the lack of infrastructure and proximity of markets.  For instance Huatulco and Puerto Escondida have much to attract tourists and Huatulco was developed in to a resort but these are a nine hour drive from Oaxaca City or Acapulco and the air fare from Oaxaca City to Huatulco is more than the air fare between Oaxaca City and Dallas.  It was a poor economic decision.  Same with the wind and hydroelectric power options – no markets.  The government hopes the Plan Panama with the completion of the All American Highway will spur industrial development.
The lead to the question: why a dam a Paso de la Reina.  This area of about three thousand ejido and communal hectares is all mostly Mixteco and Chatina indigenous land with archeological sites, white water rafting, birding, and the site of several heritage parks and reserves.  This was proposed in spite of environmental damage and sociological problems and destruction of indigenous culture that violate current Mexican policies and laws and the United Nations declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples.  This deculturization sounds like President Kennedy and the Peace Corps when they tried to eliminate the “old ways” from the islands of Micronesia by supplying lots of Spam, beer, and motorcycles and teaching English only in the schools.
Environmental consequences include flooding communities in the flood plain and relocation of due to the construction of the reservoir, obstructing the natural flow of the Río Verde, elimination of several varieties of fish, birds, butterflies, and plant species.  There would be an impact on weather regimes like a change in the rain cycle and reduced humidity with the drying of the coastal wetlands.  
The flooding would eliminate or impact at least seven municipalities and numerous communities with a population of almost 100,000 people.  Dislocations and elimination of cropland would cause hardships and political problems of relocating people and families to other places and damaging cultural and community social processes.
The Comisión Federal de Electricidad had a history of misinformation, broken promises, coercion, and blackmail.  They have failed to make timely and complete disclosure of information on the proposed project.  They had made and broken promises of new roads, improved schools and other social amenities.  There have been out right threats of political and personal retribution and personal threats to opponents of the project.
In small print of the last page of the newspaper a few years back was a note that the geologic survey found uranium near Paso de la Reina.  Electricity would be necessary to develop this resource.  Although Mexican policy is to restrict uranium development to the national government and that there is only one nuclear power plant in Mexico and no plans for future plants so there must be a plan for foreign leases to develop the uranium reserves.  Besides the social and environmental concerns the open pit method common to uranium mining will be cause water and air pollution and public health impacts from low level radioactivity.
It might be just a coincidence that the reporter working on the story ran off one of the twisting mountain roads and was in serious condition in a local hospital.  Again, Karen recommended that I cool it.
The Mexican government finally released their plan to run a rail and highway corridor across Mexico from Puerto Angel to Veracruz.  This route has been under discussion for over a hundred years.  Both ports would be enlarged to handle ships too big to fit through the Panama Canal.  A bunch of factory towns or mercanidors that would be built along the route would need all the wind and hydro electricity available.  If this is like other construction in Mexico I probably won’t live to see the completion.
Karen had been working to get several of the small political groups together and to pick a single candidate for the election in July 2010.   
March 1, 2009
HiJaak
I finished my research, wrote my draft thesis and drove back to face my graduate committee.  I concentrated on the social and environmental impacts to the local communities.  These are considerable but will probably be ignored.  I made the final small obligatory changes and set to get my PhD in May.  You are invited.  Then I go back to Mexico to teach. Karen got another local assignment overseeing something called the Bowman Expedition.
Back at my alma mater my dissertation committee had already reviewed my work and scheduled my defense of thesis meeting.  This was where I tell them what they wanted to hear and gave me a PhD.  They did as I suspected and threw in a ringer – an economist.  I had anticipated this and had boned up on economic theory and the local and national economic impacts of wind power.  To my surprise I walked across the stage in May as a brand new PhD. 
For your information the major problems with the current wind generated power are regulation of the power transmission and the distance the power has to be moved.  Variations in wind force and the design and manufacture of the turbines cause voltage spikes that have been difficult to control.  Another factor is poor sitting criteria and the spacing of the generators that can cause interference with adjacent generators and result in less than optimum electrical output.   This can probably be corrected but more work will be needed to optimize generator and blade design.  The transmission lines are owned by the government.  To carry the electricity to civilization to the end user from this part of Mexico would need miles of mountainous and jungle rights-of-ways and numerous towers and transmission lines either along the coast or over the mountains.  Both the coast and the mountain routes would be expensive and environmentally controversial unless the government ignores all the protests and property rights for the benefit of a few large consumers.
Another potential problem with the wind turbines is weather radar.  The vortex created by the blades can look like a tornado.  The Nexrad weather radars can use their computers to filter out this anomaly the same as bats leaving a cave or migratory birds but this type of radar is not in common use world-wide. 

Regardless the President of Mexico dedicated the 25 completed generators expected to be on line later in the year.  No cost figures are available and developers don’t want to let the world know the cost of this Green Energy source.   There was a rumor that one of the Mexican partners and some of the European backers have seen the light and backed out of the project.
The Plan Merida was recently approved with on 15% US supervision.  Karen said this was because only 15% of the fund money was actually leaving the US.  The other 85% would stay in the US to buy military equipment and provide training resources for the Mexican army and some of the larger police forces.  A little pork for the US arms dealers.
Karen was also made the point of contact for the Bowman Expeditions mapping study of the Sierra Juarez Mountain region of Oaxaca.  She stayed in Oaxaca while I drove back to face my graduate committee.  One of the local newspapers said the union of villages in the Sierra Juarez Mountains had questioned this project saying that they were “suspicious”.  The suspicion came from identity of the project managers and the funding sources including the US Army Foreign Military Studies Office (FAMSO), the American Geographical Society, several US universities, The Autonomous University of San Luis Potosi and the Secretary of Environment and Natural Resources, an arms manufacturer, and the military intelligence outfit, Radiance Technologies. The managers had failed to mention FAMSO.  The union claims the project was done without their knowledge and had stolen traditional indigenous information for an unknown purpose.  The project was halted after just two village maps were completed.  The villages were concerned because the maps were published on Google Maps without their prior knowledge along with a data base containing names of community members, where their land parcels were located, current land use, and other information.  This information was published only in English.  FAMSO said the maps were part of their Human Terrain System used for counterinsurgency studies.  Sounds like a typical CIA public relations disaster. “Pay no attention to me, I’m here to help.”
Karen’s political payoffs are getting results.  The teachers and several small groups have joined together to fight the PRI.  It’s still over a year until the election so there is time for anything to happen.  Part of the problem is the growing power of the Mexican Mafia and the drug cartels so whoever wins will have to make a deal or get nothing done.

A couple from Honduras stopped in the village last night.  They had escaped kidnapers that had captured several people traveling with them.  A volcano had caused a mud slide that had destroyed their village so after a few months living on the street they had decided to head for the US.  The Zeta drug gang and local police gangs have been capturing refugees, stealing everything they have, and holding them for a few hundred dollars ransom.  Once the ransom was paid the gang turned the refugees over to immigration that either sent home or, more likely, put them to work like slaves.   Petty people make petty criminals. 

July 10, 2010

HiJaak

It’s been exciting for the past few weeks.  The election was on the 4th of July and the PRI governor and other elected officials lost.  
Rebels had captured the village of San Juan Copala almost a year ago.  Half a dozen people including two UN human rights observers were killed trying to enter to deliver relief supplies.  Out of an estimated 400 armed paramilitary available the day before the election the governor sent 100 lightly armed Oaxaca state police in armored cars to confront the rebels and rescue the sick and wounded.  The rebels basically said go away or we will kill everyone in town.

The election was on the 4th of July.  The governor lost along with all the PRI congressmen.  Some of the appointed officials left the country.  The governor has been busy destroying records.  He talked the existing legislature to indict and try him so he can be exonerated before the new legislature and governor take office on November first. 
I don’t see much future for San Juan Copala.  The rebels report having about 400 armed paramilitaries and the Mexican army is afraid to attack.  The city and half a dozen surrounding communities have been cut off from outside contact, supplies and medicine for a couple years.  The sick and wounded have been treated with local herbal remedies.  One hundred Oaxaca state police were finally sent to rescue the sick and wounded.  The rebels surrendered twenty people and told the soldiers to go away or they would kill everyone in town.  A Triqui women’s march to Mexico City was attacked by porrors and three women were killed.  Maybe the next president or governor will have some guts.  

A hurricane blew through.  Most of the roads are impassable with mud and mud slides.  The substandard roads failed.  The coast is isolated from the interior.  The storm surge hit thirty feet and destroyed most of the beach front developments and severely damaged many of the coastal villages.  Many of the water supplies are contaminated or inoperative.  Storm water, sewage from broken pipes and inoperative sewage treatment plants, and trash that has been dumped into the dry river beds has polluted most of the rural water supplies.  There have been a few cases of cholera from the bad water.  Neither Mexico nor the US seems inclined to help.  The floods in Haiti, China, Pakistan, and Brazil have been getting more media attention and UN assistance. 
January 22, 2012
HiJaak
It’s been a while.  Remember our fun in the sand pile?  Then came the 9/11 tragedies and the invasion of Afghanistan and Iraq.  Iraq is still eating up troops and dollars years later.  Then there was the torture of the prisoners of war that spread to domestic criminals. President Arbutus talked about delaying the ‘04 presidential election, but our boy got reelected anyway.  Then he tried to cancel the ’08 election so he could have a third term but Congress and the Supreme Court overrode him. 
 Back in 2004 I worked as Dorm Daddy for a college dormitory of foreign graduate students?  They were sponsored by the State Department to become professors in the State Department sponsored colleges back home.  This program got sabotaged by the college administration.  I did my graduate research near Oaxaca, Mexico and stayed in Mexico teaching at small college in the mountains.  
Jaak, the main reason I’m writing is I just received an e-mail from Big Bill.  He is working on a self-mutating computer virus he calls a “nano e-WMD” (electronic weapon of mass destruction), and he recommended selling any Internet stock and finding a secure location.  He said they had several other ideas cooking but would not discuss them yet.  Karen got a recall to DC so someone is interested.
See you at the reunion next summer?
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